
 
 

 

 

 

Christchurch Replacement District Plan 
 

 

 

CHAPTER 6: 

GENERAL RULES AND PROCEDURES –

AIRPORT NOISE (STAGES 2 AND 3) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 

 

 

 

 

 

Heard at: Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue 

 348 Manchester Street, Christchurch 

 

 

Date: Commenced 11 March 2016 

 

 

Hearing Panel: Judge John Hassan 

 Ms Sarah Dawson 

 Mr Stephen Daysh 

 Ms Jane Huria 



APPEARANCES 
DAY 10 – 4 August 2016 
 

 



EXHIBITS 

 

 

 

 

 



 Page 1529 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

DAY 10 – 04 August 2016 

 

  [10.02 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Right, good morning everyone.  It is a leisurely 5 

introduction to closing submissions from the day before I guess means 

we do not have any sleep disturbance for the purposes of the hearing 

anyway.   

 

 Now just in terms of some housekeeping, first of all those of you may 10 

recognise Principal Judge Newhook might be making an appearance at 

some stage.  The reason for that is he is observing me in action. Retired 

Judge Gordon Whiting was conducting an exercise for the court, a 

consistency exercise effectively, to assist the judges in that regard.  I 

missed out so the Principal Judge has kindly offered to fulfil that role 15 

so that is why you will see him down the back of the court. 

 

 We are scheduled to go through until 1.00 pm or thereabouts so 

effectively we will run through to the conclusion of the presentation on 

closing submissions, however long that takes, but we assume that will 20 

be about 1.00 o’clock.  We will take a morning recess around 11.15.   

 

 Remember that we have read all of the closing submissions and the 

focus is on the engine testing provisions for this particular session.  So 

just bear in mind the value of focusing on your key points.  The 25 

lawyers will know that but it is for everyone who is going to be 

presenting to remember that from our point of view, our task ultimately 

involves developing a plan and getting the most appropriate plan 

provisions in the plan for engine testing is the task we are faced with 

for this process.  So bear that in mind in terms of the focus that you 30 

give to your key points in closing. 

 

 Bear in mind that the Council has offered its last version of provisions 

and it would be helpful to us to know where you differed in a material 

sense in terms of the provisions that you want from what the Council is 35 

putting forward.  So if you could bear that in mind as well. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

 Now just a couple of matters for Ms Appleyard and Mr Gardner-40 

Hopkins to think about in regard to your clients.  There will be some 

questions, primarily from Ms Dawson of you on these matters.  

Effectively one of the issues in our mind is what land use activity do 

the obligations that are proposed to be put in, in regard to engine 

testing, acoustic treatment, the noise management plan and the noise 45 

limits, what activity do those attach to?   
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 Are we right to understand it to be the activity of engine testing and 

related to that, where is that described in the activity description, what 

class of activity are we referring to?  What performance standard 

applies to that class of activity?  So it may be that you can assist us on 5 

those matters as we go through. 

 

 Right so in terms of the system that we had of order which you 

probably were told, it was numbers out of a hat apart from the Council 

going last and that means Mr Gardner-Hopkins goes first. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  I just wonder if I could raise one matter before Mr 

Hopkins-Gardner starts.  We have just been handed two documents by 

Mr Laing and I do not know if they have made their way to the Panel 

yet.  Mr Laing is going to obviously come after me so I am not going to 15 

have an opportunity to make comment on those documents so I would 

like to do that now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well I wonder whether the better option might 

be just to, I wonder, Mr Laing if you could give a brief description to 20 

what they are. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Could I just indicate, the two documents I have been 

provided with as I understand is, one is the updated contours over the 

top of the planning maps. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So this is planning map 16 with - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I do not have a difficulty with that document.  That 

is a result as I understand of the GIS information that we supplied 30 

being plotted over the top of the Council’s planning map. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So there is no issue with that.  It is the other document 35 

that I have an issue with, which appears to be an aerial photo with some 

contours over the top and some houses plotted on it and I do not know 

what Mr Laing is going to make of that document but it is not a 

document that is in evidence at the moment. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I do not know if we have got that document, 

Ms Appleyard. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, well I will leave it to Mr Laing when he comes to 

the point of trying to produce it but we do have an objection to that 45 

document going in as late evidence, particularly if it is intended to be 
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evidence of the number of houses that are subjected to differing levels 

of noise. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well perhaps - - - 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   I do not know the age of the aerial photo. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   It is not accurate even on a first glance at it. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well we do not have the photograph in front of us at 

this stage.  I have indicated to parties in preparation for closing that I 

would expect parties to reference the evidence before the Panel for 

their submissions and obviously the rule everyone understands is that 15 

we cannot give weight to matters that are not in evidence but I cannot 

anticipate what we are referring to at the moment because we do not 

have it.  So we will leave that alone at this stage and see how things go.  

Mr Gardner-Hopkins. 

 20 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you your Honour.  If it is of assistance, I 

have prepared a two page summary of talking points. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Mr Gardner-Hopkins, I hope you did not 

mind being the guinea pig for the point on referencing but thank you 25 

for, and thank you to other counsel for updating those footnotes from 

your first draft of closing submissions.  It makes our task an awful lot 

easier when we can find the source of submissions. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you, so your Honour, this document 30 

really is what I intend to talk to and really it has two parts, the first is 

really just by reference to the summary upfront in the written closing 

submissions.  And then at paragraph two and going on through to the 

second page really I have tried to focus on the key outstanding drafting 

points that I wish to take you through.   35 

 

 So just beginning with the summary and I do regret the first reference 

there to 2.1, there has actually been a transposition, the references are 

to 1.2 of the written closing submissions.  

 40 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 I don’t think I really need to labour the first point, but it is important for 

Air New Zealand to emphasise that engine testing, including at night 

time is an essential part of its operations, and if the rule framework 45 

does not enable the necessary level of engine testing at night, then there 
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are some very real practical issues around what that means for 

scheduling, and what that may mean for the continued operation of the 

engineering maintenance base with the employment that goes along 

with that.  

 5 

 My point c) there, and this is a critical part of my submission, is that 

the experts all support, or at least can accept the base Ldn metrics with 

the additional controls that were proposed in exhibit 25. 

 

 And the particular cross references are contained, certainly in the 10 

updated submissions, but I do say this is a critical point.  Dr Chiles, 

whilst he continued to express a preference for his metrics, did accept 

that the Ldn seven day rolling average measure was workable with the 

additional three requirements that were contained in exhibit 25.   

 15 

 It is not quite so clear from the transcript of Professor Clarke’s position 

on that, and it is a little bit of a puzzle that needs to be pieced together 

from the way that things transpired, but my submission is that it is clear 

also that Professor Clarke could accept the seven day Ldn base metric, 

with one addition that he reserved his position or, or that he wished to 20 

see, which was the addition of the 55 dBA, LAeq metric in addition to 

night time.  

 

 Perhaps because that is important, I will give you the page of the 

transcript that can be found on, that is page 1,518, and over into the 25 

next page 1,519. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   So my strong submission is with that position, 30 

with all of the experts at least being able to accept the Ldn metric, there 

is no basis to consider any more a return to some of the other 

alternatives, the LAeq 15 or the LAeq one hour measures that were 

previously on the table. 

 35 

 I further say, to the extent that if the Panel were to consider those 

metrics still there are some significant issues with ability to comply.   

 

 And the evidential basis for that, is the Marshall Day Report with its 

multiple tables in the appendices, and they take a little bit of working 40 

through, but I think we do now have the detailed cross-referencing in 

the written closing submissions that demonstrate that compliance is not 

possible using their metrics, both with and without a GRE.   

 

  [10.15 am] 45 
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 We say, in particular, the Dr Chiles LAeq 15 measure is particularly 

problematic.   

 

 I have also developed in my written closing submissions, and the detail 

is in section 5, really a procedural point in terms of how matters 5 

transpire, and my submission is that the experts having accepted the Ldn 

metric and then the parties on that particular day of the convened 

hearing also essentially accepting that position, I am sure Mr Lawry 

will speak to you on his perspective of that. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Or Mr Venema. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes.  But I do say there were two specific 

reservations made by the residents, one was to do with the 

appropriateness of the 65 dBA exposure point, and the other was to do 15 

with the appropriateness of the contours having land use controls 

attached to them. 

 

 But those were the only reservations expressed, and it was on that basis 

that Air New Zealand and the other parties did not proceed with cross-20 

examination of the noise experts, which would have been able to 

further test the position in respect of the LAeq 15 one hour and GRE 

positions.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 25 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   In my paragraph d) to the extent that if you were 

to still consider the potential for a GRE, we do say it is not the answer.  

There are issues with where it would need to be oriented, and there are 

certainly transcript references referring to the north-east direction. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the simple point there, as I understand it, is you are 

saying the orientation of the wind and the receiving residential 

environments do not coincide properly, effectively? 

 35 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, that’s correct.  And the issue that 

depending on the wind direction at any particular point in time the 

GRE, if one were to be constructed, may not be able to be use.  So it is 

not an answer for all periods of the time.   

 40 

 And I do say both Professor Clarke and Dr Chiles did accept that a 

GRE might not be necessary, provided the other provisions were 

sufficient.   

 

 Now Dr Chiles, I think he said that the insulation component was part 45 

of his rationale for being prepared to accept the Ldn metric, and we do 
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say insulation of the most effective properties, dwellings, is appropriate 

in these circumstances, and it is the answer as compared to a GRE. 

 

 We do acknowledge, and I think this is a point that Ms Appleyard will 

address in further detail around the jurisdiction, because we do have a 5 

difference between the parties as to how far out any obligation to other 

insulation should be provided for in the plan.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In terms of jurisdiction to have a condition on 

compensation? 10 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But not in regard to the standard that might apply if 

compensation isn’t paid. 15 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   In terms of whether there is jurisdiction through 

the Plan to impose a requirement to offer compensation, but that 

principle, there is no jurisdictional issue with the principle, but the 

question is can that be imposed out to the 60 dBA line. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Or is it limited to the 65 dBA line. 

 25 

  [10.20 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, and on that you are with the Airport on the basis 

that it was beyond the scope of the offer put on the table by the Airport 

in its submission? 30 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   That is correct.  Mr Laing has identified a 

submission that he says gives the Panel jurisdiction, my submission on 

that is that it is a tenuous basis and so the jurisdictional question it is 

something the Panel will need to resolve.  I will leave it to Ms 35 

Appleyard to develop that submission further.   

 

 My understanding is that she will also address if there is jurisdiction for 

the Panel to entertain imposing insulation requirements out to the 60 

dBA line, the substantive position as to why that is not appropriate in 40 

these circumstances.  There is a question as to how much evidence the 

Panel has in terms of costs and benefits of imposing that requirement. 

 

 My submission is that the Panel does have sufficient information before 

it at this point in time to consider the matter but the evidential burden in 45 

terms of that requirement being most appropriate has not been met.   
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 Then turning to some of the matters of drafting and Air New Zealand 

has tried to reflect carefully on the final version promoted by the 

Council which it had not seen at the time that it filed its closing 

submissions. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have a set of provisions I see that are yellow 

highlighted is that right which I have been usefully confronted with I 

suppose which is where Air New Zealand differs from the Council 

(INDISTINCT 3.11)  10 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Sorry, your Honour which? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Attached annexure A, ANZL amendments to CCC revised 

proposal. 15 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, look probably the best way to follow this 

would be to use attachment 2 to the Council’s closing submissions 

which is where they set out the three different versions, appendix 2.  I 

do not intend to take the Panel through every change just the key ones. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, just the main points of difference I think would be 

useful in terms of the first principle differences if you like. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   If we start towards, and I think I have tried to 25 

address these in chronological sequence but at page three and it is the 

objective 6.1.1 and this is the issue of whether as a matter of drafting 

the phrase “avoid reasonable impact” should be used or whether the 

alternative proposed by the Council of so far as practicable is a better 

way of drafting.   30 

 

 This is something that arises in objective 6.1.1, policy 6.1.1.1.2 and 

6.1.1.5.  My submission on this is Air New Zealand still prefers the 

language of “avoid unreasonable impact”, it thinks that there is 

sufficient understanding and context available in any particular 35 

circumstance to identify what is an unreasonable impact. 

 

 I acknowledge my friend’s submission that raises the question is that 

the same as unreasonable noise and the duty under section 16.  I do say 

that it is different. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The duty in 16 does not apply? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   I say the duty in 16 does not apply through the 

plan provisions, it is a relevant matter that can be taken into account in 45 

setting the plan provisions but in resolving what is an unreasonable 
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impact, that is different to whether or not unreasonable noise under 

section 16 is being generated. 

 

  [10.25 am] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Air New Zealand’s position as I understand it is that 

practicability goes to the question whether it can be done, 

reasonableness goes to the impact in the receiving environment? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   That is right and whether it should be done, it is 10 

whether there is a need, we say it is highlighted in the use of the 

language “unreasonable impact” whereas far as practicable is much 

more about can it be done rather than whether it should be done. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 15 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Air New Zealand will not die in the ditch over 

that it can accept as far as a practicable as an alternative but its 

preference for the Panel is to avoid unreasonable impacts.   

 20 

 The next policy is policy 6.1.1.5A2 and this can be found on page five 

of that appendix and it is the second subparagraph which currently 

refers to where practicable and again the issue around whether that 

means where possible adverse noise effects are reduced over time. 

 25 

 Now the Council in its closing submissions has explained that this is 

intended to be an aspirational policy and signals some commitment or a 

desire to reduce noise over time.  Now we see some real issues with 

this in terms of inserting it as a specific policy, particularly in this 

formulation and that is because the lead in is to require the management 30 

of aircraft movements etcetera so that where practicable adverse noise 

effects are reduced over time. 

 

 I do say that expressed in that way does not give any indication that 

that is supposed to be aspirational, what it does do is create a 35 

requirement at a policy level to achieve that where practicable.  This 

also applies generally not just to engine testing but also to general 

operations and of course the operational noise contours anticipate 

growth over time as aircraft movements increase. 

 40 

 On that basis there is inevitably going to some increase in operational 

noise over time so it seems that there is some tension there with that 

drafting that the plan and the operational contours anticipate increases 

in noise whereas this policy says noise effects should be reduced over 

time. 45 
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 What I propose as an alternative and I think it needs to be separated out 

so it is its own policy, we are proposing a policy C which says 

“consider opportunities over time to reduce noise at Christchurch 

Airport where practicable including improvements in technology 

and/or management techniques”.   5 

 

 I have tried to retain some of that drafting where the where practicable 

is there, the over time is there and the including improvements and 

technology or management techniques comes from the Council’s 

submission where it explained the purpose of that policy. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   I do say there needs to be a consequential 

amendment to the provisions in the noise management plan and this 15 

change in text is contained at the top of my page two.  In terms of the 

appendix and it is jumping around a little bit, it is on page 30 of 

Appendix 2 and we can bring that up on screen.  It is currently the 

second bullet point or the one that is not deleted. 

 20 

 Just for context these are the purpose of the noise management plan and 

what it is to provide for is set out in those bullet points and I do say the 

current drafting reflects the current policy alternative methods of noise 

management to achieve the reduction of noise effects from all aspects 

of aircraft operations including engine testing. 25 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 

 And so I do say again, that goes further than being aspirational.  If the 

policy is aspirational then that should be reflected in the requirement in 30 

the noise management plan and my alternative wording on the top of 

my page two of the summary notes is consideration of alternative 

methods of noise management to achieve, where practicable over time, 

the reduction of noise effects from aircraft operations and engine 

testing. 35 

 

 So really it is a consequential change, if you accept my submission on 

the policy then I say this change should be made to the requirement in 

the noise management plan. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now just be mindful of the time, Mr Gardner-

Hopkins, I am not wanting to shut you down at all, just bear in mind 

you have got about seven or eight minutes I think of the allocated time 

to go. 

 45 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes.  The next point, and we are back at page 

seven of the appendix and this really just is emphasising that Air New 

Zealand maintains its request and its submission that reverse sensitivity 

should be included in that policy.   

 5 

 We also respond to what I understand my friend’s submission to be that 

reverse sensitivity, as I understand him to be saying, is more about new 

noise sensitive activities locating and compromising airport operations 

in the future.  I say reverse sensitivity can arise from existing noise 

sensitive activities and that is one reason that the insulation that is 10 

proposed is offered. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the RMA principle you are relying on to say 

we should therefore grant your relief on that submission? 

 15 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   It is the basic principle that reverse sensitivity is 

an effect. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But that does not take us anywhere does it?  What are the 

values and principles under the RMA or in the Regional Policy 20 

Statement that you rely on to say in that weighing exercise we should 

weigh it in favour of your position as opposed to, for instance, not 

allocating that risk in that way? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes.  I say it is part and parcel of protecting 25 

existing residents but also that in and of itself can reduce the reverse 

sensitivity effects that might arise from those residents if the noise 

management is not sufficiently maintained. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   30 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:  My point three, I can deal with this very quickly.  

It is the simple point that providing for an exemption of 1dB really has 

very little or no practical effect, it is at the margin of error, and that if 

there is going to be an exemption it should be meaningful.  We say 2dB 35 

is appropriate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   My paragraph four, really these are just some 40 

practical issues that I think I have expressed in my submission and it is 

centred around getting the balance between certainty now and 

flexibility in the future to modify where measurements, calibration 

et cetera are taken from. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   I do make the point that if the calculation points 

are fixed about that measurements cannot be taken from that location 

because the surrounding environment changes or access becomes 

precluded, then it is possible to measure from approximate location and 5 

then calculate back but that introduces another layer of uncertainty and 

additional complexity. 

 

 My point five, and my submission on this really is, it is a practical one.   

 10 

  [10.35 am] 

 

 There is a difference as to whether three exemptions per quarter is 

appropriate or whether that should be five exemptions.  We say it is 

appropriate to have some great flexibility.  The reality is that these 15 

types of engine testing are only done where it is necessary, it is 

response to a bird strike or some other similar event.  My submission is 

that there is a low likelihood that five would be required in any 

particular quarter, an even lower likelihood that five would be required 

quarter after quarter after quarter, but the consequences if that rare 20 

occurrence happened would be scheduling impacts and would be 

sufficiently disruptive that that flexibility of five is appropriate in my 

submission. 

 

 I also make the point that the LDN seven day metric is also a limiter 25 

that all five could not happen within one week.  I think the evidence is 

at most two could happen in one week with that seven day rolling over. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, yes and your submissions take us to the evidence of 

that. 30 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 35 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   My point at six there, and this is just really 

about some of the mechanics of representation on the noise 

management committee, who should have the opportunity to 

participate?  Air New Zealand’s position is that the individuals should 

be representative where possible and the mechanism of existing or 40 

future established resident ratepayers associations provides a good 

vehicle for residential input and participation rather than simply 

identifying an individual in a relevant residential area and that drafting 

is just intended to achieve that. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   The last two points are also very short.  The 

updated section 32 addendum, Air New Zealand does have some 

concerns with it in that it is not evidence as such, it is not produced by 

a witness, it has not been subject to any testing or cross-examination.  It 5 

really in parts trespasses into opinion. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   I do not take it so far as to say that it should be 10 

excluded but I do just - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It goes to weight. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   It goes to weight and also the extent of cross-15 

referencing to the evidence and the better source in my submission 

really is the evidence and the submissions of the parties as referenced 

to the evidence.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  The matters in other words that the Panel has to have 20 

regard to in making its decision under 32AA. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 25 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:  The last point I do not really think I need to 

spend much time on.  There were some criticisms of how Air New 

Zealand has participated in terms of some of the information flows and 

in terms of some of what we put into the closing submissions.  I do 30 

reject that there is anything improper in the approach and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  You are referring to criticisms in other closing 

submissions I take it? 

 35 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:  And I hope that the more detailed cross-40 

referencing exercise assists with the Panel in that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, yes, as I indicated to you earlier I used the Air New 

Zealand submission as effectively the stalking horse, I do not know, the 

guinea pig perhaps for an important point, that we need to be able to 45 

find out references to the evidence to make our 32A evaluation. 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it is most helpful that you have completed what was 

starting to be an excellent list but had some significant gaps in it, that 5 

you helped with, thank you. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you. So those were the points that Air 

New Zealand wish to emphasise.  Very happy to answer questions of 

course. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes well just before it there may be one or two from the 

Panel.  I suppose I may as well start though with the question that I 

posed at the beginning and that is for both Air New Zealand and the 

Airport.  Have you got any comment on which land use activity the 15 

obligations proposed in regard to the Airport Noise Management Plan, 

let us take that, and the acoustic treatment obligation, which land use 

activity does it attach to, is it engine testing? 

 

  [10.40 am] 20 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes.  Look I may need to confer with Ms 

Appleyard perhaps at the adjournment - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I will not, it is not - - - 25 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   - - - and one of us can come back to you, but my 

intuitive - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   From your client’s perspective, not from - - -  30 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - -the Airport’s perspective, from your client’s 

perspective, what is it? 35 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   My submission would be that the Noise 

Management Plan and its process is wider than simply engine testing, 

and so it could attach to the operational rules and requirements. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mm’hm. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   The offer of insulation - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 45 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   - - - in my submission, and certainly to the 

extent that Air New Zealand supports the Airport in the extent of the 

insulation that should be offered, it is primarily at this point centred 

around engine testing, and so it should attach to the rules around engine 

testing. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So then following up on that, what activity 

class should apply to engine testing? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, my submission is that engine testing should 10 

be permitted provided it complies with all of those various 

requirements, and as a condition of being a permitted activity would be 

the offer to insulate made at the appropriate time. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, are there any other questions?  Perhaps we 15 

will start with you, Ms Dawson 

 

MS DAWSON:   Judge Hassan has touched on my concerns, because the 

requirements for the Noise Management Plan and the insulation are not 

attached as a standard to any activity that I can see in the rules at the 20 

moment.  So you have hopefully distinguished the two.  One broader 

than engine testing, which then comes with its own concerns, that it 

does need to be attached to some activity - - - 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - as a standard for it to be able to be implemented in any 

way.  But for the insulation you have clarified that that is an engine 

testing requirement, and you have explained how that might occur.  

And even the noise rule itself, the way it is written, I think it is 30 

6.1.4.2.7, it starts by saying, “CIAL shall manage the airport so that,” 

sorry, I am in the wrong one, but I think it says the same thing, yes, 

“Shall manage so that the noise from testing of engines shall not exceed 

the standards.” 

 35 

 But again, am I right in thinking that actually it is the noise from testing 

of engines shall meet the standards to be a permitted activity? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   It is not the operation of the airport being a permitted activity.  

If engine testing does not meet its standards, which is how that could 

easily be read, where do you see the noise standards sitting in terms of 

the land use activity?  Do they sit with engine testing alone, or do they 

sit with the whole airport?   45 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   I would have thought they sit with the engine 

testing alone.  

 

MS DAWSON:   But do you think that could be clarified? 

 5 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Now the second question on both this and any other 

standards that are attached to engine testing is given that we are talking 

about a seven day Ldn, and so it is a cumulative noise measurement, 10 

the two options are does it attach to an engine test or does it attach to 

all engine testing?  Because, does all engine testing as a group need to 

comply with the standards, and if not all engine testing becomes 

whatever the default activity status is, or is it an engine test that might 

result in a cumulative - - - 15 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, well - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - because I know in the modelling, well we have looked at 

lots of individual tests and how they cumulatively come to this 20 

standard, and if it is one test that has its own problems I see. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, my submission is it is engine testing.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 25 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Particularly around, you know, the seven day 

Ldn averaging exercise, in terms of an Lmax, which we do now have as 

part of the metrics, and that of course would attach to an individual test. 

 30 

  [10.45 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   As would the high powered testing of a jet engine on wing or 

- - - 

 35 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - the testing of a turbo prop, they are more refined as to the 

activity that those particular parts of the rules attached to. 

 40 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I mean it would be helpful to have as much clarification as 

possible about how these rules might be framed and worked and how 

they would work.  So thank you for your help as far you can Mr 45 

Gardner-Hopkins. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Huria. 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you so. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Daysh? 

 

MS DAYSH:   No, I have no questions sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Just a couple of other little matters, Mr 10 

Gardner-Hopkins thank you, have you for your substantive submissions 

in front of you?  

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because I had my notes on those.  And one was 6.18 had 

noted down.  So in this suggestion here around the wording of this 

policy, I wondered whether there is an element of circulatory, where 

we have adverse effects referred to at the beginning to be managed, and 

then avoid unreasonable impacts in the second part of the phrase. 20 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you have a comment on that? 

 25 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   What we were seeking to do there is recognise 

that effects do need to be managed, but what is the objective or what is 

the standard to which they should be managed to, and we did think the 

benchmark was to avoid unreasonable impacts.  With avoid obviously 

now having, you know, quite strong implications. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   We then continued to think it was of benefit to 

have reference to the anticipated outcomes, and just as the drafting 35 

exercise, having regard to anticipated outcome for the receiving 

environment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mm. So just a related question, in terms of 

unreasonableness, would I be right to assume that sleep is disturbed, it 40 

is always unreasonable?   

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Not in my submission.  Some sleep disturbance, 

in context, may not be unreasonable.  And - - - 

 45 



 Page 1545 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, okay, so your benchmark of unreasonableness goes 

beyond the receiving environment in terms of what is anticipated as an 

outcome?  Or is it just consigned to that, in other words are you saying, 

well, sometimes you may wake up in the night, that may be said to be 

sleep disturbance, but if it is a one off, occasional, hardly ever happens, 5 

and it is in a context where there are other noise sources that might 

wake you up at night, that is not unreasonable.  Is that the logic of that 

submission? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, it needs to have regard to the expectations 10 

of the receiving environment - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mm’hm. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   - - - and of course here we have got some 15 

tensions between a rural zone and a rural environment - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   - - - but also in proximity to an international 20 

airport. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and a State Highway. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   That is correct. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In some cases. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   So that environment cannot be ignored.  The 

question of what is reasonable in that environment does require some 30 

judgement, but I do say it is not unreasonable for some sleep 

disturbance to occur in that context.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, and I just wanted to actually crystallise it, your 

reference point for those submissions is the nature of that receiving 35 

environment, including its anticipated outcomes?  That is how I 

understand you. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, yes.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And the general issue around the RMA not 

being a no effects statute, and that some effects may be acceptable in 

the right circumstances. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  And you are not adding another colour to the 

equation as I understand it, I just want to get this confirmed, that we 

also factor in the importance of the noise producer in a community 

sense.  We do not tax what occurs in the receiving environment by 

reference to how important the noise producer is.   5 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   My submission is that is part of the context and 

that is part of the overall environment. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But does that not come back effectively to who bears the 

cost of making sure the noise environment is reasonable – the recipient 

or the producer?  Does it not come back to that? 

 15 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   That is an element. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it seems to be, what other element is there in the mix 

if one adds in the importance of the noise producer to the question of 

reasonableness?  Are you not really saying once you have taxed the 20 

recipient because the producer is important to the community? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes to some extent that is my submission. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And which principle of the RMA, purpose and principles - 25 

- - 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - duties, section 16. 30 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Matters in seven, matters in five, which provision are you 

relying on for that submission? 35 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   In part at least the efficient use of resources, the 

Airport being important infrastructure and that to unduly constrain the 

Airport and its operations would not be an efficient use of that 

resource.  So that is certainly one aspect that I do - - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so finally, bearing in mind your submission on 

section 16 and the fact that it is not a requirement of us to sign off that 

the provisions satisfy that duty, the flipside of that is the duty continues 

to apply and continues to expose the noise producer to the potential for 45 

action for unreasonable noise, regardless of the plan outcome? 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that how you see it? 

 5 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  All right, well thanks very much, Mr Gardner-

Hopkins, that is very helpful.  So we will just go straight to you I think, 

Ms Appleyard and we will take the recess I think if, depending on 10 

timing, how you are going, we might take it before Panel questions or 

after those. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Thank you, sir.  I actually did not provide a time summary 

so I have been allocated one so I will try and stick to that. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I actually do have some notes as well, they were actually 

for me rather than anybody else but Mr Gardner-Hopkins wanted his 20 

photocopied so I did my own as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well we assumed the 20 minute more or less number, we 

gave 30 minutes to Air New Zealand because they asked for it. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I have assumed 30 minutes for the Residents because 

they have collated their position into one. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:  Thank you.  I might just start with Ms Dawson’s questions 

if you do not mind. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, just go straight to those. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:  So Ms Dawson I just had a quick discussion with 

Mr Bonis and except for the comments around the drafting what we 

really need is a rule that permits engine testing providing that the 

insulation is provided and the noise management plan is produced and 

is operating as it is meant to.   40 

 

 At the moment there is just a discretionary activity standard for engine 

testing so we will certainly look at the drafting of that to pick up the 

point that you have made but the same would also apply to operational 

noise, so the same issues arise in relation to the rule dealing with 45 
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operational noise which at the moment is worded in a similar term 

about managing the Airport.   

 

MS DAWSON:   That may be more appropriate in the circumstance. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so I think that is probably why it was drafted like 

that for engine testing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   But also just to clarify that in terms of CIAL’s proffered 

position the insulation within the 65 and the noise management plan 

and a setting up of the community liaison group apply equally to 

operational noise as they do to engine testing so although Mr Gardner-

Hopkins was asked the question about permitted activities in relation to 15 

engine testing, the offer relates to both.  Insulation within 65 relates to 

the operational contours and the community liaison group noise 

management plan is equally aimed at operational noise as well so the 

redraft would have to go across both sets. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   So can I just point out a couple of things that you might want 

to bear in mind. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   The permitted and discretionary rules for compliance, I mean 

they use the word engine testing but they rely on the rule later on to say 

what the actual activity is. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   And for things like bird scarers or frost fans or temporary 

activities, which are the other specific rules, they are very clear what it 

is, that the rule attaches to.  But when it comes to these two rules it is 

less clear. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   And also the only standards that are required to be met are 

the ones in 6.1.4.27 (ph 0.17) - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, which is - - - 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   - - - and not eight and nine, or six in the case of operational 

noise. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so that is not intentional, we will, Mr Bonis is here, 

tidy that up. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So again you might like to think about how the need for a 

committee or a noise management plan is written as a rule to be 

complied with from day one. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:  Yes, so it will be a condition of being a permitted activity.  

So if you do not have it you are going to default to being a 

discretionary activity for operational noise and engine testing noise is 

how I would see it structured. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it would need to be very clear what activity also is a 

discretionary activity because that is not clear either at the moment, it 

just says non-compliance. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is, it one engine testing operator, or is it all engine testing 

operators need to make a group application, that sort of thing? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and then with the operational noise it is the landing 25 

and taking off of the aircraft. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which is really the operation of the Airport. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which is the way that rule is more written. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   All right, and also when you read the rules, particularly the 

ones about the Airport liaison committee and the noise management 

plan, they read like conditions of a resource consent. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   They read like they pertain to a resource consent holder. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   And they need to be written very differently to be able to be 

implemented and enforced as standards on a land use activity, 

particularly where it is a permitted activity, which is unusual and so 

great care needs to be taken in the enforcement, because how do we 

know when it is not complied with and it flicks over to requiring a 5 

resource consent? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so we will take that away and have a look at it.  

They were partly borrowed from the LPC example it looks like.  And 

that was drafted by a committee through mediation as I understand so 10 

we will take that away and have a look at that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much for that, I appreciate it, thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So I am not going to, in the interests of time now, read 15 

through this whole summary but just perhaps picking up on a point I 

have made at paragraph two and three, which is a point that his Honour 

has just made, and that is in relation to the section 16 obligation and 

how CIAL sees that and I have said that at paragraph three, we accept 

that the obligation under section 16 that emanates from the RMA and is 20 

independent of and sits outside anything that is done in this plan 

process.   

 

 That is why Mr Boswell’s evidence certainly in opening was that the 

airport was cognisant of those obligations, took advice yearly from 25 

Marshall Day as to what was unreasonable noise and responded 

accordingly in terms of acoustic insulation.  Actually what they have 

done is property purchase where it has been available, and that was an 

obligation placed on them that stood independently from the plan, 

which was why they took the position initially that they did not 30 

consider there needed to be rules in the plan around insulating 

properties within the 65 because they were cognisant of those 

independent obligations and they considered they were taking steps to 

address that commercial risk themselves and ensure they were not in 

breach of the Act.   35 

 

 So that was why the position was taken as it was in opening.  Having 

said that, we have moved on and there is parties seeking some clarity in 

rules around what those obligations are which is why the position is 

now proffered as it is, that there would be an offer of insulation within 40 

the 65, not only for engine testing but also for operational noise.   

 

 So a point that we have is that that section 16 obligation applies equally 

to operational noise and it would be odd, if nothing else, to proffer a 

rule which we say enshrines the section 16 obligation, which deals with 45 

engine testing because that is where all the noise if I can put it that way 
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has been at this hearing, when there is just as much an obligation on 

CIAL to deal with that duty in terms of operational noise, which is why 

what is put up has not just responded to the submitters that you have 

heard from at this hearing, but also extends that offer of insulation 

enshrined within a rule to operational noise as well. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So I have said that down at paragraph eight so throughout 

the course of this hearing CIAL has moved its position significantly 10 

and that largely comes out of work that it has done over 18 months with 

Air New Zealand and other operators to come up with constrained 

contours, and they are smaller than, ie they have less effect that what is 

actually experienced at the moment. 

 15 

  [11.00 am] 

 

 So the operational changes that have been made in agreement with Air 

New Zealand and other operators result in a better than the status quo 

situation in terms of engine testing noise.   20 

 

 I say at paragraph 9 “there are themes in the submissions from the City 

Council and other submitters that CIAL hasn’t offered any mitigation” 

because it hasn’t offered any direct capital expenditure.  But I say that 

the work that has gone over 18 months to produce those constrained 25 

contours, which equals less noise, is mitigation in itself, and it comes at 

a cost.  Not a cost in terms of a cheque of going and buying a GRE, but 

it certainly does comes at a cost, and it is mitigation. 

 

 So it is not correct to say that CIAL has not offered mitigation.  In the 30 

course of this hearing there has been very significant work done in 

order to deal with the way engine testing is carried out to produce those 

constrained contours. 

 

 And at paragraph 10, and this is something that hasn’t been specifically 35 

touched on, although it has been briefly mentioned by Mr Gardner-

Gardner-Hopkins, is the addition of the Lmax and there is lots of 

argument about Ldn or Leq 15.  But the concern there was that we were 

dealing with average events and we weren’t dealing with the residents’ 

actual experience.   40 

 

 So the Panel should not overlook that in conjunction with the 

agreement to adopt Ldn as the measure that there is now an Lmax 

compliance limit provided as well.  

 45 
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 There is also the website reporting, effectively so that a resident can 

hear a noise and be able to tell pretty quickly how that noise relates to 

compliance, not only in respect of the Ldn but also in respect of the 

Lmax, and the establishment of the Community Liaison Group.  So they 

are all, we say, significant measures, and they were largely borne out of 5 

the comments that we took from the Panel’s Minute, which preceded 

the expert conferencing.   

 

 So that is really where the package comes from.  So it’s not correct to 

say that the package is just – we now accept Ldn and we’ve got some 10 

exceptions in the rules; these other matters have been added to the 

package, and in particular the Lmax, the real time reporting and the 

establishment of the Community Liaison Group.   

 

 So now what I wanted to do was really flip over to the top of page 3 of 15 

these notes and deal with the matters that are really left in dispute 

rather than rehashing the submission, and in particular the wording 

matters, which is really the crunch. 

 

 So if I could ask you to have the Council’s version in front of you, and 20 

I am not going to repeat what my friend has said, so where we accept 

what he has suggested, I will indicate that to you. 

 

 Now the first is in relation to this policy of noise during night hours, 

and I just wanted to point out to the Panel that this is not an airport 25 

noise policy.  This policy originally also appeared in the Central City 

Chapter, and then was amalgamated into Chapter 6 at the time the 

Council moved matters out of the Central City Chapter of the Plan and 

placed it in other sections of the Plan. 

 30 

 It was then amalgamated into the Chapter 6 noise provisions, but I am 

not sure who was on the particular panel.  But this was a policy that 

was of specific interest to submitters, and the hearings where I was 

representing parties who were operating late night bars - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   This is the entertainment precinct? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and this was a specific policy that had started off in 

the Central City Chapter and then ended up being amalgamated into a 

General Rules Chapter, and I do have a concern, which I only stumbled 40 

on last evening, that the wording of this policy, and it is not an airport 

noise policy specifically, was subject to mediation and agreement at a 

non-airport noise mediation. 

 

 It was agreed between the residents, the bar owners, and also I think 45 

Carter Group had an interest in as well for other reasons, and it was 
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produced in evidence of Kelly Andrew in a 4 February 2016 version.  

And that case has been closed, and those parties are not here to 

participate in submissions around changes to what is a general noise 

policy at an airport noise related hearing.  So I do have some concerns 

about that.  5 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So are those concerns addressed in the new drafting that 

you have proposed?   10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So the redraft that I am proposing, which is not in the 

version attached to the submissions, is to go back to the Kelly Andrews 

mediation version, and I will need to provide that to you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   It is in Kelly Andrews 4 February evidence.  The 

paragraph numbers for discussion are 716 to 721, and it was a mediated 

outcome, so the wording is attached to her evidence.  20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so if we are marking it, the Council said we 

should – put a note beside CIAL under the policy to indicate that what 

is put there is updated by what you have just said now? 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now the next is the specific policy in relation to airport 30 

noise, and I note that the Council’s legal submissions say that this is a 

policy which is just about managing what the airport does, managing 

the noise produced by the airport.   

 

 So just a bit of history on this one, this was not included in the Notified 35 

Version, and I am not sure where scope arises for it at all, but I am not 

taking the point on that.  Nor, I point out, is there any other strategic 

infrastructure where Council is suggesting what I am about to describe 

as quite a restrictive policy.   

 40 

 I would like to point out, which is a matter of specific concern to the 

airport, that this policy relates both to operational and engine testing 

noise.  Now my friend is right to focus on engine testing from his 

perspective, but from the perspective of the airport, this is a policy 

about managing all noise produced by the airport, and there are specific 45 
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concerns around the wording of it, in addition to the ones raised by my 

friend around operational noise. 

 

 So the airport has two fundamental concerns with the City Council’s 

version, namely its opposition to the inclusion of any reference to 5 

context.  In the airport’s version we are wanting reference to the 

receiving environment and strategic infrastructure, and that is picking 

up on the discussion you have just had with my friend. 

 

 But probably even more concerning when one puts it in the context of 10 

operational noise, is the reference in it or the use of the word “limited”, 

talking about limiting noise which is generated. 

 

 And when you put that in the context of operational growth where the 

region policy statement, strategic directions, and all other provisions of 15 

the Higher Order Documents have growth contours for operational 

noise which are predicting and encouraging as a consequence of 

increased flights, increases in noise, this policy does not sit well when 

applied to that context and those other documents.   

 20 

 So two concerns really.  The resistance to reference to strategic 

infrastructure and context, and the receiving environment, and 

particularly the use of the word “limit”, particularly when applied to 

operational noise.   

 25 

 Now City Council’s argument on the point about reference to context 

appears to be simply that it’s unnecessary because this policy will be 

read alongside strategic directions.  So the concern just appears to be 

about superfluous words rather than about merit.   

 30 

 What I would say to that, is that the Order in Council is also about 

clarity and readership, not just about reducing the number of words 

used in the Plan.  And what we have here is a very specific policy 

dealing with the topic of airport noise, and I would say that readers of 

the Plan should expect to see all relevant policy in one place, given the 35 

specificity of this particular policy and the topic that it’s dealing with.   

 

 The City Council also said that the policy is only about placing 

obligations on CIAL to manage noise, but even on their own draft 

that’s not correct.  The first point (b)(1) are talking about avoiding new 40 

sensitive activities within the air noise boundary with the 65 Ldn engine 

testing contour. 

 

 That’s about land use restriction, so it’s not only a policy about how the 

airport is required to manage noise and there are rules around land use 45 
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restrictions including within the 65 contour and around insulation in 

this chapter. 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now I have got the order wrong in the next bit where I 

am discussing part B, so if we could just perhaps go over my page to 

first discuss B1 and then I will come back to B2. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that is the point that I was just making that even on 

the CCC’s own version of it, it appears at least partially to be a policy 15 

about land use restrictions, B1 about avoiding sensitive activities within 

the 65 for engine testing and operational noise, and so the question is 

asked about why the policy, which is a specific policy, lists some but 

not all of the land use restrictions which appear in this plan. So I am not 

clear what the objection would be to that list being complete.   20 

 

 And just dealing with some wording issues, there is an issue between 

the CCC and CIAL as to the use of the word “avoid” in relation to the 

65, that is B1. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is in the face of the prohibited rule? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Prohibited activity rules, so I am not sure why we would 

use another word.  And then B2 which is our suggestion that if you are 

starting to list land use restrictions you should list them all, which is 30 

our suggestion that we also refer to avoiding noise sensitive activities 

within the 50 air noise contour and the 50 engine testing contour, I am 

not sure what the objection would be to completeness of having all of 

those land use restrictions listed in one place.  If we have started on the 

65 why would we not also include the other contours? 35 

 

 Paragraph 34 of my notes, in relation to engine testing, the point was 

made in the City Council’s submissions that what the drafting does 

here is largely repeat Strategic Directions and the RPS policy but those 

policies do not refer to engine testing.  I just point out that the case for 40 

land use restrictions within the 50 engine testing contour was run 

through the Rural hearing and there was no evidence in opposition to 

that and as I recall the outcome of that hearing, the planner in that 

particular case indicated that there would be policy reference to land 

use restrictions within the 50 but held the issue over for final 45 

determination until this hearing was held in case there was some 
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change to that position.  So if the evidence is accepted in the Rural 

chapter, the question is raised then what is the objection to that being 

included in this particular chapter as the list of land use restrictions that 

apply throughout the plan. 

 5 

 And then on B4, we are now using the phrase noise mitigation rather 

than noise insulation and that is simply because ventilation might also 

be an option, or installation of insulation systems, so that was Mr Day’s 

suggestion, that it is wider than just potential insulation. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The two go together do they not?  If one is thinking of 

sleep disturbance. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  They may, that was his point, that insulation is not 

necessarily what would be the only mitigation, there might be the 15 

installation of cooling systems or heating systems, heat pumps et cetera 

as well.  We are not going to die in a ditch over that, he just thought it 

was more complete than limiting it to insulation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And if we could just flick back to my paragraph 27 and 

this is the City Council’s new aspirational bit of the policy.  I will just 

make the point I am not clear where this has come from.  It is not in 

any evidence and it is not in the 29 June version.  Now the version that 25 

we have got attached to the submissions shows some words being 

crossed out, noise generated, but I cannot find them in any previous 

provision either. 

 

 So the implication that words are crossed out is that it has been in the 30 

version somewhere and then there is some suggestion of wording 

changes but I cannot find those crossed out words anywhere, and they 

are not in the 29 June version. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does the Airport have a different view from Air New 35 

Zealand on Air New Zealand’s proposition for (INDISTINCT 04.48) 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   We do not think it should be in there at all but if it is 

going to be in there then we would prefer Air New Zealand’s words.  

My concern again, and this was not one that I would expect my friend 40 

to deal with, but at paragraph 28 again this is a policy dealing with 

operational noise and engine testing noise and this appears to be 

imposing a sinking lid on all Airport noise including operational noise, 

which flies in the face of higher order policy providing for growth and 

an inevitable increase in noise levels over time. 45 
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  [11.15 am] 

 

 So reading this policy with an operational noise hat on, it raises the 

spectre of restrictions on types of aircraft, types of technology that can 

fly here, flight path changes, abatement procedures and curfews, all the 5 

things that we are seeking to avoid.   

 

 So I suppose a summary of all of this is it has popped up from nowhere 

at the end and when you put your operational hat on, which this is 

intended to apply to as well, we do have some concerns that it appears 10 

to be imposing a sinking lid on airport noise.   

 

 We also agree with my friend that there is nothing aspirational about it 

in the drafting, it is a blunt policy that future decision makers, if for 

example we were to apply for a resource consent because we cannot 15 

comply with the existing operational contours, would run smack into 

this policy and future decision makers would need to interpret what it 

means and have regard to it.   

 

 So then down at paragraph 37 which is really probably the last matter 20 

and this is this acoustic treatment 60 versus 65 and the City Council has 

taken what was a proffered position from the Airport and required the 

offer to be extended to rural properties in the 60 engine testing contour 

but for engine testing only.   

 25 

 We agree wholeheartedly with the Council’s submissions at its 

paragraph 340 that says that this is not a matter that can be determined 

on acoustic evidence alone, that there are a number of matters to be 

taken into account and in particular, costs and benefits and we say that 

there is no evidence before this Panel on those other matters. 30 

 

 Just backtracking, as I said at paragraph 39, we started with Council 

evidence specifically stating that there was no requirement to insulate, 

well that the Airport be required to fund insulation, and I have referred 

to that in my closing submissions, that is an extract from Ms Dixon’s 35 

evidence.  And what we had was Dr Chiles with a statement at hot 

tubbing that his package would also need to include insulation but it 

was not specifically linked to the 60 contour.   

 

 The Council’s evidential basis is set out at paragraphs 350 to 357 of its 40 

submissions and I have only had a quick chance to have a look at the 

version that came in last night but there do not appear to be any 

footnotes with those paragraphs which would indicate the evidential 

basis for what is being put forward now which is where my concerns 

came from in relation to what I apprehend this document is going to be 45 

used for, to count up the number of properties within the 60 LDN 
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contour and then calculate some sort of cost from that, so I do have real 

concerns about the evidential basis for what is being put forward. 

 

 I would also point out that the people that we are referring to are not 

the submitters that have appeared in front of this Panel, in fact I do not 5 

think we have had any party within the 60 LDN engine testing contour 

before this Panel.  So they are not the people coming to the Panel to ask 

for this relief.  

 

 And also picking up on my friend’s discussion with you, largely in 10 

places the 65 contour for operational noise and engine testing noise 

overlap.  And for some reason the Council’s proposal attempts to 

differentiate the effects of people exposed to the same level of 

operational noise as opposed to engine testing noise and we simply 

cannot see that differentiation, it is not made out on the evidence. 15 

 

 There is an attempt in the submissions to do it, saying well there is 

engine testing carried on at night and most of the flights are in the day.  

There is no evidence of that before this Panel as to the number of 

flights which are conducted at night time versus the number in the day 20 

and there is simply no evidential basis for distinguishing people 

exposed to 60 LDN engine testing noise to 60 LDN operational noise 

and the question then needs to be asked, putting aside costs, on what 

basis could this be justified as being rolled out for people exposed to 

engine testing noise but not the same level of operational nose? 25 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   That really takes me down to my 47, the issue of scope.  I 

would agree with my friend that the link to finding some scope with 

Mrs Payne’s submission is tenuous.  If you look at her submission she 

is not aiming that at securing funded information for people that live 

within a contour that she does not live in and she may want to comment 35 

on what her intention was, but I do not think that insulation of 

properties within a rural environment in which she does not live was 

the intent of her submission. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on that though given I put it to Mr Gardner-Hopkins, 40 

if thought the question is one of compliance with certain noise levels in 

the receiving environment, and a rule said that compliance was 

effectively satisfied by the offer of insulation the scope issues goes 

away does it not? 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  I am not putting too much weight on the scope, the 

real complaint about this is it has come so late in the piece.  This has 

not come through the evidence and I accept that Dr Chiles has done 

some work to try and get the parties to resolution and we have got a 

long way towards that and we have come very close together, but this 5 

has come post-mediation and no cost benefit analysis has been done.   

 

 If it had been done at the get go and we had the evidence in front of the 

Panel we could have had an argument about that, fine, but coming this 

late in the piece and producing documents trying to count up houses on 10 

a plan and multiply it by some number is simply not the way to go 

about this. 

 

 The Council have options open to them if they consider that there is 

mischief that needs to be dealt with, they have the ability to undertake 15 

plan changes but I mean as I say the other point is that parties that are 

in front of this Panel, and I am not saying we do not need to be worried 

about other parties as well will get absolutely no benefit from this. 

 

 We do not have any parties giving evidence to this Panel who will 20 

benefit from this, who have indicated to this Panel that there is an issue.  

It is not to say there is not an issue there are other ways of dealing with 

it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, and section 16 is part of what you refer to there? 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, or a plan change if the Council believes that there is 

an issue that it needs to deal with it can go and do the analysis, find out 

if there is a problem with people who are actually living there exposed 

to the noise level now, conduct a cost benefit analysis and take 30 

whatever action it considers in the circumstances. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I do not intend to go through the rules matters because 35 

my friend has covered those, only to touch however on this matter of 

representation CIAL does welcome community representation but the 

difficulty is in drafting provisions to ensure it is truly representative for 

the community rather than focused on the agendas of individuals.   

 40 

 I would note here that the submitters who have appeared have appeared 

on individual submissions, there is a series of individuals, this is not an 

incorporated society representing a large number for people, for 

example in Bishopdale and they represent a very small proportion of 

people exposed to airport noise and they are not the people exposed to 45 

the highest noise levels. 
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 It is difficult to tell anything from this particular hearing about the 

experience of people who are actually living closest to the airport and I 

would also remind the Panel that we also did hear from the Avonhead 

Community Group and Professor Bagchi gave evidence and that is a 5 

group which has been incorporated to deal with a number of issues that 

residents have, airport noise only being one of those which has a large 

membership and they have actively been involved in the existing 

liaison committee so that sort of process we have absolutely no 

objection to but the issue is drafting it to ensure that we are going to get 10 

representatives on the group which are truly representative of 

community interest as a whole and community views and experiences 

on the whole and not incorporated societies of two members with a 

barrow to push. 

 15 

 Now that was why we had used the vehicle of the community boards 

because they are elected members and they are representative of views 

of the community and we not that is what is being done in relation to 

LPC and in the Auckland Unitary Plan.  That was the reason for that 

suggestion there was no intention to cut out genuine representatives 20 

who can come representing a community view but we have got to avoid 

the situation where we have a committee which is loaded with 

individuals with personal agendas which is not really dealing with the 

wider views of the community. 

 25 

  [11.25 am] 

 

 That was why we opposed direct representatives of residents being 

added and why we had done it through the vehicle of community 

boards. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Lastly, the section 32 issue I have got the same concerns 

there is very little cross referencing in that it looks like Council’s 35 

opinion to us I think would be of limited benefit to the Panel.  Now the 

only other issue is I note Ms Limmer is here, I had in my legal 

submissions raised the issue of Lmax at Peacock Springs that the Isaac 

Trust are seeking.   

 40 

 I do not have anything to add to that other than what is covered in the 

submissions and the essential submission there is that there is that there 

was no evidential basis which established any sort of link between 

impact on birds and a particular noise level.  I do not know whether my 

friend has considered the Lmax that is being proposed for dealing with 45 
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residents and whether that actually practically solves the problem or 

not. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It may be something Ms Limmer can confer on you at the 

break about and take any instructions. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   But we would have an objection to an Lmax being imposed 

with a lack of evidential link to any impact on things in particular. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and I have read the submissions on the same matter. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you very much, Ms Appleyard.  We will have 

questions for you but we will take the recess now and I think we will 15 

go back in at twenty to. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.26 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.45 am] 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Apologies everyone, five minutes late.  Time gets away 

on us sometimes.  Now just in terms of questioning.  All right, I have 

just checked with Ms Dawson, her questions have been answered. 

Mr Daysh? 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions for me, sir. 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  I have just got one or two things I 

think still.  Yes, I had some questions on section 32 and section 16 but I 

think you have covered those.   

 

 I have to say, one thing that troubles me as a first principle issue, 35 

Ms Appleyard, underpinning the logic that then flows to how you 

frame objectives and policies in terms of allocation of obligations, is 

the construct of reverse sensitivity which you present.  And while this 

matter was not covered in Air New Zealand’s written submissions, 

Mr Gardner-Hopkins has expanded on that this morning in also 40 

addressing us on reverse sensitivity.   

 

 So just questioning you on that matter, and the reference to it being a 

classic scenario, that would not though, be the case would it in regard 

to engine testing and its consequences for established residential areas?  45 

In the sense, well I will bring a bit more specifics to that.  If we start 
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with the policy direction and look at the Regional Policy Statement and 

its several references in its objective and policies to reverse sensitivity 

in regard to strategic infrastructure.  Bearing in mind for instance the 

Panel’s findings on that in the Residential chapter, it seems to me that 

those policy directions do not pertain to a situation where the noise 5 

sensitivity comes from people living in houses in established residential 

areas. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   The only reason I hesitated was I am probably going to 

disagree with my friend.   10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  So my understanding of reverse sensitivity is about 

coming to the nuisance. So you have got the established industry, 15 

whatever it is, that is there first and it is about either resource consent 

applications or new zonings where the sensitive environment is being 

introduced where the other is established. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So the level of principle.  Having said that, in relation to 

this particular matter, I do not know what comes first, the chicken or 

egg, in terms of history and what was there first. So we have got an 

established airport and established engine testing operation that has 25 

been there for a very long time.  We have residential that has got there 

either by resource consent or zoning or whatever, I do not know in 

terms of the time period what came first. But at the level of, it is the 

introduction of coming to the nuisance, I agree with you that that is the 

concept that you are exploring. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so the first question I guess I have is there is nothing 

that I can see in the Regional Policy Statement that gives us a direction 

on the matter of reverse sensitivity that pertains in a situation where 

there is an existing residential established zone and recipients in that.  35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, not under a reverse sensitivity argument.  There are 

lots of arguments and my friend touched on it about strategic 

infrastructure and what is unreasonable and all the rest of it, but in 

terms of classic reverse sensitivity is not about someone arriving where 40 

this - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well so given that there is no policy direction, the 

next question in my mind is so where do we find, so I asked 

Mr Gardner-Hopkins about, well we might have the concept of reverse 45 

sensitivity, we all know what it means as a definition, we know the 
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RMA manages effects, but what about the RMA principles and why do 

those RMA principles direct us to effectively a position where the 

burden or tax applies to the recipient of the noise as opposed to the 

producer of the noise?  And he referred me to section seven. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Matters of efficiency. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And section five, matters to do with the importance of the 

airport to the community. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and that is the point I was just making, that it is not a 15 

reverse sensitivity issue but there are other, and I would agree with him 

on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But as I understand it you are not saying that that releases 

the Airport from, or Air New Zealand for that matter, from an 20 

obligation to mitigate at source? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Absolutely not and that is what section 16 is there for. 

 

  [11.50 am] 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In addition to section 16 though there are a number of 

principles around mitigation at source that should inform how we 

structure and calibrate the standards and the duties that apply to those, 

the obligations that apply under those. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I do not have any difficulty with that in policy terms. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If we come down to the core of say section 32AA as to 

what is most appropriate and we consider noise would you agree with 35 

me that effectively the main question for us is about two things, 

practicability and what is reasonable? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On the question of reasonableness your position is the 

same as Air New Zealand that it is not just the receiving environment 

that is relevant to that question? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Absolutely. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So in effect what you are saying by that as I understand it 

is in terms of allocation of costs that does weigh effectively in favour 

of an approach of passing some of that cost including say sleep 

disturbance cost to the recipient of the noise? 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The sole basis for that as I understand it is the evidence as 

to the strategic importance of the airport to the community is that right? 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and also I mean another example would be land use 

restrictions not from the new resident but someone that owns an 

existing house in the rural environment and so through this hearing 

process we have placed restrictions on that recipient through the land 

use restriction so that is the same principle.  The cost lies on the, part of 15 

the cost lies on the recipient and it does not only apply to a new entrant. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   That is the classic argument that Mr Lawry is raising that 20 

he does not think that there should be land use restrictions and he is 

talking about his existing property and his existing house and saying 

that the land use restrictions are not justified as we have had many 

parties come and argue that the land use restrictions are not justified so 

that is an example of the cost being placed in the context of a strategic 25 

infrastructure on the recipient. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The only other question I think I have got left is in regard 

to 6.1.1.5 which if we go to the Council’s comparisons and looking at 

the Airport’s proposal, the issue I have got in regard to the suggestions 30 

in regard to A is that in that redrafting, if I could be slightly impolite, 

you are effectively neutering the policy and the reason I put that to you 

is that the policy becomes one where the latter part of the phrase about 

unreasonableness combines the issue for the recipient, the person who 

is sleep disturbed, with this taking into account the role of the Airport 35 

as strategic infrastructure.  I guess my question is with that addition do 

we not effectively end up with a neutered policy giving no direction on 

choices? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I can see the point you are raising and this is sort of 40 

the mixture of two problems we have.  Our fundamental problem is the 

word “limited” in the Council’s version so we have attempted to deal 

with that by reference to strategic infrastructure but if the word 

“managed” is there rather than the word “limited” some of the other 

problems go away and in particular the words at the end because you 45 

have done that through the analysis of setting the contours you have 
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taken those matters into account.  It starts to get a little bit circular but 

it is really the Council use of the word “limit” that creates the problem. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you for clarifying that, that is good.  

Thank you, all right, so thanks very much, Ms Appleyard again, most 5 

helpful to us now Mr Venema it is now your turn.   

 

 As I said to the others bear in mind our role in terms of the focusing on 

the provisions that we have to decide on and it was particularly helpful 

of you I think in going to the trouble you did in your closing 10 

submissions for the submitter group to actually go through line by line 

the Council’s revised version and present a position.  That at least helps 

us understand you want the outcomes addressed in the provisions. 

 

 So on the same basis if you could just, you have got a bit more time 15 

than the others given you are representing the group so I have given 

you an allocation of half an hour so just proceed when you are ready? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, thank you, is that coming through all right? 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, as you have mentioned it is quite a group of submitters 

and their closings and so what I have chosen to do is to focus a lot more 

on the evidence that those closing submissions supply in the aim that 25 

the transcripts will capture that.  This is a combined speaking to our 

closing and commenting on others closing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, for an allocation of about 30 minutes. 

 30 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, okay.  The maps that have been supplied last night and 

this morning I would like to make comment at the end on if I could. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Please. 

 35 

MR VENEMA:   The resident submitters that I am representing is John Sugrue, 

myself, Bruce Campbell, Vanessa Payne, Dave Lawry and Mike Marra. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Is that the same list as you had in your 

written submissions? 40 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, I believe it is, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What about David Bastern (ph 1.43) is he one as well, 

David Bastern? 45 
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MR VENEMA:   He did not do a closing submission. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you just refer to him in your second paragraph. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Have I, yes, well he has been part of the submitter group, yes 5 

of course I made a note there that he is part of the provisions that we 

have supplied in the web document with comments but did not make 

per se his own specific written closing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine, just sorry, just very quickly when you filed 10 

your closing you said you were preparing them on behalf of a group of 

people including Mr Bastern. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that the position? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, that is the position. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 20 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, generally our position is things appear to have moved on 

according to the Council, CIAL and Air New Zealand, but our position 

is we have issues with the evidence that that move has been based on 

and so as submitters we are trusting that the duties of the RMA section 25 

16 of avoiding unreasonable noise and interpretation and application of 

section 2 will be with regards to engine testing noise that CIA be 

upheld and adhered to. 

 

 The support for mitigation at source by the use of GREs that is ground 30 

run up enclosures from Professor Clarke, our expert acoustic’s witness 

is 100 percent.  The most highly qualified acoustic experts Professor 

Clarke and Dr Chiles support the use of GREs as world best practice 

and first choice in mitigation.  GREs are entirely technically feasible 

allowing night and day testing with no restrictions and an advance and 35 

the guarantee of design to meet the desired noise mitigation outcomes 

according to evidence before us. 

 

 That evidence being page five, point 19 to 22 of John Paul Clarke’s 

evidence-in-chief 17 February 2016, page four and five of points 13 to 40 

18 of his rebuttal evidence of 25 February 2016, page 542 numbers 20 

to 45, page 543 numbers five to 15, page 551, numbers 35 through to 

45, page 552 numbers 20 to 45 and page 553 number 15 of the 

transcript of the chapter six rules and procedures, 15 March 2016. 

 45 
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 That was while being examined by Judge Hassan, yourself, sir, Mr 

Daysh, and Ms Dawson on GREs. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 5 

MR VENEMA:   Dr Chiles’ support for GREs is evidenced in page 6 of point 

6.5 of the engine testing noise acoustic’s conferencing signed by 

Chiles, Day, Clark on 13 April 2016, page 9, point 6.3, page 10, 6.7 of 

the evidence supplied by Stephen Chiles acoustics 4 February 2016, 

page 1,499, numbers 5-15 of the transcript of Chapter 6 Rules and 10 

Procedures of the Reconvened Hearing Airport Engine Testing 

Conditions on 24 May 2016. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 15 

 And we also have both German and USA manufactured ground run up 

enclose credentials and usability were evidenced in the update 

statement of evidence from John Segrew 2567, on 17 February 2016, 

pages 9, 10 and 11 and 12 , and attachments 2, 2A, 3, and 3A.   

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Mr Venema, just on that point, because to make any 

ground on this you are going to have to deal with it.   

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes.   

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What does your submission have in regard to the 

proximity of the residential areas and their location in regard to engine 

testing and the prevailing winds and their direction.  In terms of the 

evidence, what evidence do you rely on and what is your position on 

the practicality or otherwise of a GRE in Christchurch Airport? 30 

 

MR VENEMA:   Right, to satisfy the conditions that have been brought up as 

issues, ie wind direction and the opening.  There is adequate 

technology to provide four-sided GRE’s, and that is evidenced by John 

Segrew in the German manufacture of such, which is virtually not 35 

affected by those issues. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so you refer to Mr Segrew’s statement for that 

submission, just so that we can find it. 

 40 

MR VENEMA:   His evidence, yes, as detailed here.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Mr Day from Marshal Day Acoustics for CIAL, has been 45 

unable to evidentially discredit GREs, even with the simplest of 
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models.  His contour mapping showing the relief provided, is largely a 

success for the bulk of residents, that will be the Bishopdale/Harewood 

area.  And we refer to the map M4A with the north-east facing GRE, 

the title of the map being 1610, figure M4A, mitigating enclosure NE-

ET contour, 29/01/16, supplied to us by here at the hearing.   5 

 

 And on that map we make some observations that with a GRE at 

Christchurch Airport, Harewood School falls into a 40 dB engine 

testing contour.   Without the GRE they Harewood Scholl falls into a 

65 dB engine contour, a notable difference.   10 

 

 CIAL and Air New Zealand Limited have not evidenced an acceptable 

economic or technical case against modern GRE technology.  

Mr Morgan for Air New Zealand did some quoting and it equated to 

window shopping.   15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Venema, I am sorry I have to interrupt you again.  I 

have just been passed a note, and I was wondering about the same 

thing.  Because I didn’t receive any paperwork apart from the 

submission you filed.   20 

 

MR VENEMA:   I am terribly sorry, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you got a set of notes there? 

 25 

MR VENEMA:   I have slipped up on that one, I supposed to request - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So once those are handed up you can take us to the page 

you are at.   

 30 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, indeed, sorry.  My apologies, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, that is fine, just pause for a minute though, because 

we will need to get on the same page.  So at the moment you are 

referring to a document headed “Residential Submitter Closing”? 35 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, that is the first document, sir, and page 2. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On page 2, towards the middle or bottom of the page? 

 40 

MR VENEMA:   Near the top. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Near the top, all right, yes, thank you. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Sorry, sir.  45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And you were going to show us another document at 

some stage, which we will just keep a copy of this as well.  All right, 

sorry, carry on. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay.  Mr Morgan quoted a window shopping exercise when 5 

concerning looking at GREs, just before Christmas, see page 270, 

numbers 35-40 of his transcript of Chapter 6, Rules and Procedures, 14 

March 2016.  

 

 Now Mr Copeland for CIAL, Economics Expert, doesn’t believe in 10 

dollar figures when cross-examined by Mr Laing, see page 325, 

numbers 30-45; page 326, number 5; and page 328, number 5-45; page 

329, number 5 of the transcript of Rules and Procedures for 14 March 

2016.  

 15 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

 Which leads nicely into the term of ‘best practicable option’ and 

Sustainable Management.  The submitter group support a GRE as the 

best practicable option of mitigation because only a GRE actually 20 

contains the noise pollution and stops or reduces its distribution at 

source. 

 

 Recently surfaced at Christchurch Airport is now the promotion of 

insulation of houses, and is being presented as an acceptable alternative 25 

means of mitigation in the latest Proposed Plan.  Firstly, insulation does 

not avoid or reduce making the noise.  Even the CCC agrees.  The onus 

of containing the noise falls to those who are making it not the 

residents who are inflicted with the noise, see page 26.3.65 of the 

Council’s closing submission, part 3, 27 July 2016. 30 

 

 Insulation of affected properties has no mitigation impact on outdoor 

amenity values at all.  Consider the Harewood School and its 

playground, the church, and those residents in the 

Harewood/Bishopdale area.  An option that has no impact on outdoor 35 

amenity, noise mitigation is simply not in any sense practicable, and in 

those terms should be rejected.   

 

 The CCC quite rightly points out where the responsibility lies for the 

CIAL sanctioned move 2 kilometres closer to existing residents without 40 

implementing any mitigation measures, and that the subsequent reverse 

sensitivity issue were brought upon themselves, see page 12.3.5, and 

3.6 of the Council’s closing submission, part 3, 27 July 2016. 

 

 The economics of best practicable option has simply not been proven 45 

by CIAL or CCC, refer page 13,  point 3.9 of CCCs closing 
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submission, 27 July 2016.  To the extent that CIAL relies on the 

evidence of Mr Copeland as to actual costs and benefits, it is 

respectfully submitted that his evidence should be given little weight, 

that is according to the Council.   

 5 

 It should not be the community’s responsibility to undertake studies of 

GRE effectiveness and costings, it is the responsibility of the Council 

who represents the community to initiate these.  And a wee bit more of 

GREs in our conclusion. 

 10 

 Now, the question of LAeq and Ldn, the saga.  There needs to be quite a 

bit of clarification, and the experts I believe have given that.  The 

experts at the Engine Testing Noise Acoustics Conferencing, signed 

Chiles, Day, Clarke, 13 April 2016.  Page 2.4.1 NZS6801, 2008, 

Appropriate Measurement Standard which in itself briefs on measuring 15 

noise in Leq terms, where LAeq 15 minute and LAeq one hour are 

explained, but nowhere do we find a seven day version of Ldn in 

NZ6801.  It must be a Day thing. 

 

 Point 4.2 - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on that matter though, just so that you understand, 

from the Panel’s point of view, we can take account from Mr Day’s 

opinion as an expert on what should be the appropriate metric, just like 

any other noise expert.  So just bear that in mind that in terms of that 25 

last submission it is not just a question of the standard doesn’t provide 

it therefore we cannot do it.   

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, sir, we provide more evidence on that area.  Thank you, 

sir.   30 

 

 So point 4.2 in that acoustic conferencing, LAeq is an appropriate metric 

for engine testing, they all agreed.  Professor Clarke debunks the Ldn 

seven day metric for engine testing and supports LAeq measure, page 

11, point 43 and 44 of the evidence of Jean-Paul Clarke, 17 February 35 

2016, and gives video evidence on page 543, number 10-35, and under 

examination by the Chair, Judge Hassan on page 546, numbers 5-20 of 

the transcript of the Chapter 6 General Rules and Procedures, 15 March 

2016.   

 40 

 Note, however, there in the transcript - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks for that, we will take note of that.   

 

  [12.10 pm] 45 
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MR VENEMA:   Yes.  Our closings submissions and refer even to the CCC’s 

still attesting that Dr Chiles still evidences that the LEaq 15 metric is 

more appropriate for engine testing, the Council’s closing submission 

page 14, point 3.11, the only excuse I can find for favouring the Ldn 

metric is because Auckland use it.  Closing, page 17C of the appendix.  5 

And that metric was designed by Marshall Day Acoustics.   

 

 Ldn seven day for a starter is the Ldn is supposed to be over a 24 period 

according to the standard, and not extend to seven days, ie DN stands 

for day/night and it is a 15 hour/nine hour split, that is 24 hours.  There 10 

is no other acoustic company other than MDA that tacks on the seven 

day bit.  Professor Clarke evidences there is no basis for this metric in 

acoustic literature, page 11, point 44 of J P Clarke’s evidence-in-chief 

filed 17 February 2016. 

 15 

 So what does it really mean for the polluter?  And these are my own 

notes here so sorry, sir, I was going to elaborate a wee bit on this.  

What it means is the polluter can plan for the whole week who it is 

going to annoy at what part of the boundary at any one point in time, 

knowing that the averaging will protect him over the whole week, or 20 

her sorry, I am using gender as an example.   

 

 And so consequently it does not ensure protection for the receiver at 

any given location, equally Ldn 7 makes it difficult to pair up a 

complaint from a receiver with the offending breach event as it is 25 

hidden in the weekly average.  The CCC also admit to peak noise 

annoyance masking issues with Ldn seven day.  In their closing, page 

17C of appendix B, they acknowledge by saying it reduces 

acknowledgement of the peaks of engine noise at night time.  

 30 

 So the submitter group does not support Ldn seven day and requests that 

LEAQ metric and a pyramid of LAF max allowances per the table in our 

submitted proposal document, attachment A of my own closing 

submission, and that is in accordance with agreements of the two most 

highly qualified acoustic experts. 35 

 

 Our requested proposal also requires that these limits apply to rural as 

well as residential dwellings, in accordance with the most highly 

qualified acoustic experts, Professor Clarke and Dr Chiles.  Evidence 

referenced by Bruce Campbell in closing, refer to page four, point 4.6.2 40 

of the engine testing noise acoustics conferencing, signed Chiles, Day, 

Clarke, of 13 April 2016, and hot tubbing - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we will just make a correction to that word, I noticed 

it before, the hot tubing. 45 
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MR VENEMA:   Oh, have I, sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you said it. 

 

MR VENEMA:  Hot tubbing and it is supposed to be, yes. Page 1501, numbers 5 

15 to 45, and pages 1502, five to 10 of the transcript, the Reconvened 

Hearing - Airport Engine Testing Conditions, 24 May 2016. 

 

 Also a comprehensive on the ground monitoring system must be used 

to verify the airport engine testing noise modelling under all conditions.  10 

That it is the very least done each month for an entire year.  Page six, 

point 23 to 26 of J P Clarke’s evidence-in-chief, 17 February 2016, and 

see page 1505, number 15 to 20, and page 1527, number 30 of the 

transcripts of the reconvened hearing airport testing conditions 24 May 

2016. 15 

 

 The submitter group does not support any land restrictions in any form 

in any 50 dB contoured area.  Professor Clarke proves that there is no 

acoustical grounds for a 50 dB contour as research shows this level 

does not drive noise complaints, due to equivalent background noise 20 

levels. 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 Professor Clarke uses the bell report by Dr Fedel (ph 0.12) and this 25 

concludes that a 55 dB DNL is sufficient as a conservative criteria for 

land use planning.  The fact that there is a state highway to the east of 

the airport would make the 50 dB restriction even more acoustically 

absurd.  Professor Clarke received no rebuttal from the parties on this 

issue.  Refer page 10 to 11, point 38 to 41 of J P Clarke’s evidence-in-30 

chief, 17 February 2016 and page 544 numbers five to 10 of the 

transcript of Rules and Procedures, 15 March 2016.   

 

 What is more, CIAL have never been under threat of curfew as the 

CCC have failed to take and manage complaints effectively, let alone 35 

prosecute their company.  If the 50 dB rules that CIAL are pursuing are 

allowed to manifest, this would mean around 131 square kilometres of 

extra land will be put under restriction, see page nine, point 48, of Chris 

Day’s evidence, that is submitter 2348, 17 February 2016.  In terms of 

the RMA and planning this is a legal and political absurdity. 40 

 

 Conclusion surrounding best practicable option, we submit, as 

Commissioner Collins urged 18 years ago, that if the Airport and its 

operators invest in modern GRE technology a sustainable management 

option to seriously mitigate on-wing testing of an industrial noise class, 45 

then this noise pollution issue will virtually disappear.  There will be no 
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need for extra complexity of rules and exemptions, or further restrictive 

land planning rules and it allows for the increased engine testing for the 

future.   

 

 We as neighbours in Christchurch City will be happy that the grand 5 

gateway to the south, our industrial neighbour, Christchurch 

International Airport, has got engine testing noise pollution practicably 

under control, has our outdoor amenity values at heart, and are serious 

about investing in our collective future.   

 10 

 Mitigation by GRE will raise the liveability of the whole receiving 

environment forever.  It will facilitate sleep and outdoor amenity values 

improvements for thousands of neighbours and greatly assist in 

facilitating the wider earthquake goal of a vibrant city. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Just Mr Venema, back to that point though, you appreciate 

the Panel’s role and our obligation is to come to a view on that matter 

on the evidence before us. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And this statement here, would you accept, goes beyond 

the evidence before us? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Well I had intended that our evidence given, yes okay, sorry.  25 

It is our position, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I understand your position. 

 

MR VENEMA:   And it has been evidenced that it is our position, in the past. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I understand that. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, sorry. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes.  Other relating closing issues from the submitter group.  

We advocate the exclusion of engine testing as part of the Airport 

operations by definition, a topic under debate elsewhere under strategic 40 

infrastructure protection, as exclusions of this activity would not deny 

Christchurch International Airport protection from harm as a strategic 

important gateway to the south.  And this seems to be a main reason 

that counsel for the CIAL seems to be putting forward, is this reverse 

sensitivity and unreasonableness.   45 
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 Mr Lawry wishes to indicate, has given evidence relating to his 

investigation of the biased decision making, as an expert investigative 

witness he outlined his qualifications, even offering to provide further 

evidence of this expert status which has not been requested.  He has 

been careful to remain open minded however he has given numerous 5 

well documented examples of conflict of interest and bias.  The 

accused parties have not provided an expert level rebuttal and have 

only commented that they do not agree but without supporting this with 

evidence.  We submit the expert evidence is robust, is before the Panel 

to assess the weight of that evidence. 10 

 

 And the Environment Court expert’s agreement to re-evaluate the 

existing contours every 10 years and as the counsel for the CIAL 

expresses, this is not all just about engine testing, it is the promise to 

those affected by CIAL land use controls and they would be objectively 15 

reassessed every 10 years.  We respectfully request that this promise be 

included in the Replacement District Council Plan and that the re-

evaluation will be required to take place in 2017. RMA S79 also 

requires a local authority plan to be reviewed no later than 10 years 

post-operative.   20 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

 The potential for earthquake recovery advantages of new desirable land 

being made available for development that is near to existing 

infrastructure is very real as contours may well shrink significantly, and 25 

has already been highlighted this re-evaluation will obviously need an 

independent oversight. 

 

 Now, if I can move on, just making comments about other closing 

submissions. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, bear in mind the time limit. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes.  Air New Zealand’s closing submission we had a lot of 

issues with.  It is a submission that contains – and this is onto the 35 

second document – it contains a lot of acoustical analysis and opinions 

relating to engine testing, and opinions and statements concerning 

around run up enclosures, the technology and effectiveness in 

development.   

 40 

 Some of these statements and opinions will in its essence for Air New 

Zealand, having not engaged their own acoustic expert in the process 

and present new evidence, and as such no opportunity to cross 

examine, neither to rebut.  We also note there is now a claim by Air 

New Zealand, page 10, para 3.1D of their submission, that they have 45 

engaged their own independent acoustics advisory. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   If I could give you some comfort Mr Venema, that as I 

said to other counsel, our obligation is to make our call on the 

provisions on the basis of the recall of material before us, the evidence, 

submissions are representations.  And so where submissions are made 5 

and there is no support in evidence that certainly goes to the lack of 

weight that we can apply.  So if you understand that - - - 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and give you some assurance on those matters. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, thank you sir.  And the next comment is surrounding 

that, that the credit of Mr Gardner-Hopkins and Mr Hudspith, they do 

not seem to have any credentials supplied for these endeavours that 15 

they have pursued on, and so of course we would respectfully 

recommend that all these statements, opinions not actually referenced 

be rejected.   

 

 We are concerned that Air New Zealand counsel have taken to make 20 

incorrect statements concerning the resident submitter group’s position.  

Page 4, para 1.2I of their submission, with regards to an agreement 

with Air New Zealand and the Airport Company supported measures.  

Please refer to our closing submission and our overview given today 

for clarification in support of our position.   25 

 

 We have at no stage unilaterally accepted the Marshall Day acoustic 

seven day Ldn dB noise metric, our position and our acoustic, 

Professor JP Clarke, at expert evidence tested, conference hot tubbing 

and caucusing, 24 May 2016, was that we were open to negotiating, but 30 

required further modelling results and data from NDA to verify this 

new course of direction would actually present on the ground, and 

Professor Clarke voiced some further provisos.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Venema, I am just going to say at this point, you 35 

have got a lot of notes to go. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I gave you an indication earlier on what we are interested 40 

in focusing on in terms of provisions. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will give you another five minutes and I want you to 45 

wrap up on the key points in regard to responding to other parties on 
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the basis that that five minutes gives you more than you were originally 

allocated. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Right, thank you, sir, yes.   

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you could just keep that in mind. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Bearing in mind that these caucusing decisions were not 

transcripted and were strictly without prejudice, so we reject those from 

Air New Zealand.  We have grave concerns of the absurdity of the legal 10 

directions they have sought of the Panel on excluding what is appeared 

to be our backtracking, we are only simply intending, this is point 

three, we are simply intending to go back to what is solid evidence 

basis.  Now, you quote a lot of unfair processes in natural justice. 

 15 

 And of course the Panel’s input at that particular day was thankful as 

well, in the initiation of it the Panel Chair actually did instruct Ms 

Appleyard to withdraw the document at the beginning of the day, and 

that was on the reconvened hearing’s transcripts, page 1468, numbers 5 

and 15.  As in it was not considered and shut down, that is page 1500, 20 

number 5.   

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

 We are also concerned with a number of leading statements that Air 25 

New Zealand counsel have made concerning our expert witnesses 

position, and claims that in page 2, para 1.2C claims that the Ldn 

agreement, yet they say that Professor Clarke requires an LAeq one 

hour metric, which of course is true, but is not in Ldn metrics, so they 

do not agree.  We have fully referenced Professor Clarke’s debunking 30 

of the Ldn seven day, and his preference for LAeq, equally Dr Chiles 

continued support for LAeq in our closing submissions.   

 

 Page 3, para 1.2F, GRE not viable for the Christchurch Airport, 

accepted by experts, totally untrue. Professor Clarke, our expert, 35 

recommends that GRE’s are an effective means of mitigation, that the 

noise that is produced during ground engine testing, ie mitigating the 

noise at source.  Any statement to the contrary is either ill-informed or 

disingenuous.  His evidence-in-chief, 16 February 2016, page 5, para 

21.  He is particularly clear in his support for GREs under examination 40 

from the Panel members, Judge Hassan, Mr Daysh and Ms Dawson all 

evidenced and referenced in our closing.   

 

 Thea acoustics accept that insulation is appropriate, intimating that it is 

their position that it is a more effective and direct solution than GREs.  45 

This is not Professor Clarke’s position, page 7, point 33 of rebuttal 
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evidence of JP Clarke 25 February 2016. During his last video 

conferencing Professor Clarke was also clear on his local 

understanding of the unique Kiwi value of outdoor barbeque amenity.  

Which was not transcripted.   

 5 

 Nor is Dr Chiles position, whose number one choice is GRE over 

insulation.  Under examination by Mr Laing, see page 1499, numbers 5 

to 15 of - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You can take all of that as read now that we have got that 10 

in front us.   

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, right.  Of the transcript, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have got two minutes to wrap up.   15 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay.  I have got here, peppered with lengthy closing 

submissions is peppered with assertions that ground run up enclosures 

are not viable, and we have listed some examples, with referencing to 

where that is.  Our submitter group understands that this map, the 20 

M4A, clearly shows in, even in the direction of the opening, that the 

GRE provides a noticeable reduction in the noise contour area.  And we 

have made some observation there, the Bishopdale area, will be no 

engine testing contours, previously was 50 dB, John Sugrue’s property, 

no engine testing contours, previously 55, Harewood School 50 dB, 25 

down 15 dB, and Jessons Road, Whitchurch Place properties, 50 dB 

when previously 65. 

 

 Our closing submissions.  We touch on the ground run up enclosures 

again, and the information from the German company is that the noise 30 

reduction is up to 30 dB in the fully enclosed ground run up enclosure, 

and engine tests can be conducted 24/7.  And the information from the 

Spirit of St. Louis Airport is 15 dB. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now going to the Council submission, are there 35 

any particular points you want to emphasise in closing out? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have now gone through to 12.30. 40 

 

MR VENEMA:   Sorry sir, yes okay.  In the Council’s closing submission we 

agree with their stance on the economical case, of course, as we have 

presented, and that it could be used to reject a viability of a GRE.  The 

cost of insulation being more economical that the cost of a GRE, well 45 

that very cost does not embrace, it is just on cheaper price, it does not 
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price the cost of sleep disturbance, the value of amenity to residents, 

and it does not resolve the view with now and future.   

 

 And I note too, and will just make a comment on those maps at the end.  

The GRE also would put no limited on testing.  Yes, so our position is 5 

that the CCC nor CIAL, nor Air New Zealand Limited have fully 

evaluated the benefits and true costings of a GRE by appropriate 

experts. 

 

  [12.30 pm] 10 

 

 It should not be to communities responsibility to undertake feasibility 

studies or commission an on the ground, ground run up enclosure and 

evaluation.  It is the responsibility of the Council who represent the 

community to initiate those and we would respectfully request that the 15 

Independent Hearing Panel recommend to the Christchurch City 

Council, CIAL and Air New Zealand Limited that these parties are to 

carry out a full and thorough investigation into the benefits that would 

be received over the neighbouring areas by installation of a ground run 

up enclosure system at Christchurch International Airport. 20 

 

 If I am just allowed to make a comment on the mapping, sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 25 

MR VENEMA:   My stance for the submitter group is that we have received 

that last night through CIAL and this morning we have it looks like a 

satellite map, of course we would, if there was any decisions to be 

made on those we would seek leave for a period of time that the wider 

submitter group can assess those and make comment on them but I 30 

would make some quick observations - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I have to deal with your leave application and I think 

I will have to decline it on the basis that it is ready for the Panel now to 

make our determination on the evidence and matters before us on the 35 

most appropriate provisions.  It is not a matter for the Residents Group 

at this point. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, could I make some quick comments then on the map.  

There appears to be no occupied dwellings within the 65 dB on this 40 

latest map which makes a mockery of CIAL’s investment in mitigation 

under those rules and will be nil cost to insulation.  The contours 

appear to be largely within the airport operational contours when 

roughly compared.   

 45 
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 It retains the unacceptable LDN seven day metric and still had the 

ridiculous 50 dB contour.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, now I will just check with Panel members on 

questions.  Ms Dawson? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 10 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, I have no questions, sir. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I did actually, one of the reasons I wanted to actually keep 

you within time was that I did have questions on provisions which I 

indicated to you at the beginning, Mr Venema was of particular 

importance to the Panel.  Does the Residents Group have a position in 20 

the case that the, and this is for the Panel to work our way through, but 

in the event that the Panel determines that it is not practicable or 

sufficiently effective for the community to have a GRE, what is the 

submitter group’s position on acoustic treatment of recipient residents? 

 25 

MR VENEMA:   Sir, we collectively I would have to say we do not have a 

particular position in the sense of it is unilaterally accepted.  The 

comments would be as per here in closing is that it does not provide 

outdoor amenity protection during whenever that would be wanting to 

be used and one of the submitters main areas, that being Vanessa 30 

Payne, is the use of the Harewood School is not advantaged by. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Now turning to provisions and I 

have looked through your track changes which were attached to your 

closing submissions, so I am familiar with those.  You make some 35 

suggestions on objectives and policies which is to your credit to have 

go through that effort, thank you.  Those objectives and policies are 

important because they set the direction in place for the controls that 

apply through the rules.   

 40 

 Am I right to understand that the gist of your concern in regard to those 

matters is that changes that have been proposed watered down the 

obligations in regard to mitigation at source and protection of the 

receiving environment? 

 45 

  [12.35 pm] 
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MR VENEMA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well I think that is probably sufficient to get an 

understanding, thank you very much, Mr Venema for your role and 5 

very hard work in coordinating the submitter group position.  From the 

Panel’s point of view if I could convey my thanks also to Mr Lawry 

working with you on that matter, a very challenging task to do that and 

it is appreciated because it creates more efficiency for us so thank you.  

Now Ms Limmer, I will just get your submissions in front of us. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have read them and obviously just focusing on the 

engine noise matter. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, quite, sir.  I do not have any written submissions to give 

you today, I was just going to speak to a few points in my submission 

and respond to three points in the closing submissions of other parties. 

 20 

 To start at paragraph 34 of my written submissions I set out the task is 

after and in terms of differences from the Council version that you 

have, marked provisions were attached and it simply is the insertion of 

two monitoring points for engine testing noise in the Peacock Springs 

area and an additional line to the table setting limits that set an 80 Lmax 25 

limit at those two points. That is the point of difference between the 

Council’s version and the trust. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   In response to the submissions from the Airport the extent that 

it is addressing the trust request I submit it is not an example of reverse 

sensitivity.  The paragraph 35 of the submission sets out the trust seeks 

to effectively cap levels at the maximum noise levels they are now, it 

does not seek to constrain or reduce activity. 35 

 

 The trust makes its request on the understanding this will not imperil 

the commercial or operational objectives of the airport.  It submits there 

has been evidence to the contrary on that point.  It submits also the 

limit can be complied with while amenity aspirations are achieved also 40 

and again there has been no evidence to the contrary on that. 

 

 I refer to paragraphs 45 and 48 of my closing submissions where we 

addressed the suggestion in the evidence of Ms Dixon that there was a 

trade off to be considered and that imposing this limit at Peacock 45 
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Springs might reduce the options available to address noise level in 

residential areas. 

 

 I submit there has been no evidence that there would need to be a trade 

off or that the residential objectives could not be achieved if this limit 5 

was imposed.   

 

 Turning to paragraphs 36 - 40 we have explained the reason why the 

trust seeks the limit, effectively it is because Peacock Springs is vital to 

the preservation of some of New Zealand’s most precarious bird 10 

species. 

 

 The Trust’s expert advisor Dr Dowding has expressed concern with 

changes in the noise environment at Peacock Springs and a number of 

evidential references are set out there to support their submission.  It is 15 

submitted there has been no expert evidence that refutes his concern at 

higher noise levels at the Trust’s Peacock Springs might cause 

difficulties with the breeding programme. 

 

 To the extent the Airport has made a submission that there is no 20 

evidence proving adverse effects will arise the AT Lmax is exceeded the 

trust has effectively always accepted that and that is set out at 

paragraphs 50 to 54 of the closing submissions. The Trust‘s submission 

is that there is more to consider under the Act and in particular section 

32 requires an assessment of the risk of acting or not acting where there 25 

is uncertainty. The Trust relies on the evidence of Dr Trevathan, and 

the lack of any counter evidence to submit there is no risk to the 

Airport in imposing the limit.   

 

  [12.40 pm] 30 

 

 It relies on the evidence of Dr Dowding to submit there is a risk of 

adverse effects on the activities at Peacock Springs. And that is 

summarised in paragraph 55 of the closing.   

 35 

 In terms of the other parties submissions, if I can refer you to page 19 

of appendix 4 of the Council submissions.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think it is four.   

 40 

MS LIMMER:  The submission being made there is that an 80 Lmax makes no 

practical difference given the contours as proposed.  The Trust does not 

accept that.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Sorry, can you just identify where you are referring to 45 

there? 



 Page 1582 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

 

MS LIMMER:   Certainly sir, at page - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Page 19? 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   19 of appendix 4. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Appendix. 

 

MS LIMMER:   As updated by the Council. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  

 

MS LIMMER:   There is a discussion about the Trust’s requests and over the 

page at page 20 - - - 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh. 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - the last sentence summarises the view that there is no 

practical difference with the contours as they are and with the Trust’s 20 

limit opposed. The Trust does not accept that. Dr Trevathan did discuss 

this in his evidence, and identified scenarios that would give rise to 

breaches of the 80 Lmax despite their constrained contours as they 

were then.  And paragraph references for that are paragraphs 26 and 29 

– 31. 25 

 

 I also submit the Council has not called evidence demonstrating a basis 

for the proposition that the 80 Lmax is not needed because it would 

make no difference, based on the contours as they are, and the Trust 

has not had an opportunity to respond to that.   30 

 

 To some extent the proposition is dealt with in paragraphs 40 – 44 of 

the closing submissions you have anyway. The Trust accepts the 

approach it advocates for is cautious, but in the absence of costs to the 

Airport, and in the face of potential risks to the important resource that 35 

Peacock Springs is, it submits it is justified.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Ms Limmer, just on that, sorry I struggle with one issue 

there in terms of risk.  Is it not the nature of an airport as such that it 

needs to be able to respond to change in technology and aircraft and so 40 

forth, and I think the evidence before the Panel, as I recall it, was that 

there is no basis for us to be assured that changing aircraft technology 

will reduce their noise profile. 

 

MS LIMMER:   No sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  And in fact it might even go the other way.  But if that is 

the evidence would it not present a risk to impose a limit? 

 

MS LIMMER:  Sir, in my submission the evidence is that the limit comfortably 

caters for what is envisaged, what can be foreseen. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I see. So it is about the evidence that refers to the predicted 

growth and so forth as well? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MS LIMMER:  There is certainly no evidence that 80 is going to create 

difficulties or mean that things cannot happen than might have 15 

otherwise been able to.  And it is also my submission that if there is a 

need to increase levels beyond what they have been, that that should be 

assessed through a cost benefit analysis in terms of the effects that 

would bring upon other receivers of that noise. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And you may have covered this, but can you summarise 

for me the difference, whether there is a difference between the 

position you have advanced and the Airport’s position as Ms Appleyard 

explained around the max limit that is proposed by the Airport?  

 25 

MS LIMMER:   Yes the - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The relative difference between those two for your client 

and why you prefer one versus the other? 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Yes sir, that was one point I was going to respond to, so I can 

cover that now.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.   

 35 

MS LIMMER:   So the Airport’s submissions and the Trust’s submissions were 

filed on the same day, and they took completely different views on 

what the Lmax that is proposed now for the residential areas means for 

the Trust. 

 40 

 So the Airport’s submission was it alleviated the concerns for the Trust.  

The Trust position and it is summarised in paragraph 48 closings is it in 

fact exasperates the concern because - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Because it might push the noise towards the Trust land and 45 

away from the residents? 
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  [12.45 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:  That is quite right sir, and the Trust has taken advice on that 

from its expert, and my instructions are that it actually increases the 5 

potential - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which is why prefer the monitoring points within Peacock 

Springs - - - 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   Yes sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and those levels being applied insofar as your client is 

concerned? 

 15 

MS LIMMER:   Yes sir, because the Lmax point is a long way away from 

Peacock Springs. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  Thank you.   

 20 

MS LIMMER:   So sir, that deals with effectively two of the points I wanted to 

respond to.  The third point is if I can refer to policy 6.1.1.5, that is in 

the red stamped version of the Council’s closing.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, got it, thank you. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   And if I can refer the Panel to part B of that policy as sought 

by the Airport. So the Trust has no difficulty with the Council’s 

wording, but referring to what the Airport has asked for in its closing 

submissions, simply in terms of the phrase used in for example B1, 30 

“prohibiting activities sensitive to airport noise.” 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And again in part 2, “avoiding activities sensitive to airport 35 

noise,” the submission there is simply there is a definition in the plan of 

sensitive activities.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well yes, and what you are saying, noise sensitive 

activities as per the Regional Policy Statement, whereas your client 40 

could be caught by this re-wording? 

 

MS LIMMER:  That is right, so it makes very uncertain what the implication 

of that policy is when you have a definition of one thing, and also 

chapter 17 has a very similar policy, but it refers to noise sensitive 45 
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activities, so it makes it very unclear what the policy does, and we have 

not addressed there in submissions or evidence.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 5 

MS LIMMER:   And sir, just perhaps finally, if the Panel is minded to accept 

the residents relief, which includes a 75 Lmax limit at all dwellings, be 

they rural or residentially zoned, that would effectively negate the need 

for an Lmax limit at Peacock Springs because there are dwellings close 

to the Airport.   10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, those are my submissions.  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks Ms Limmer, I will just check for questions.  Ms 

Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no thank you Ms Limmer. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, I am good, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  And I found them very clear as well.  We 

would obviously have to consider the points of difference between the 30 

respective parties on these matters and the related evidence before we 

come to a view.  Thank you.  

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you.   

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, thank you Mr Laing, just when you are ready.   

 

MR LAING:   We are obviously very short of time now, if the Panel please, 

but I will - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well just take the time you need, Mr Laing.  It is 

important for us to hear as clearly as we can from the Council, so I 

would not be quite pushing it. 

 

MR LAING:   What I have handed up is really purely a road map, because I 45 

was not at all clear as to what was going to be said today.  I think I will 



 Page 1586 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

just make the point in this opening that it is important to read the 

Council’s closing written submissions with the other document which 

is the appendix 2 of the comparison version, because in some cases 

there is more detail in the comparison version, in some cases less.   

 5 

 The two documents were always intended to be read together in terms 

of the Council’s position.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 10 

MR LAING:   So in some cases there will not be a lot of detail in the Council’s 

written closing but there will be more detail in this document there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 15 

MR LAING:   In my paragraph 1 there I simply just list the main features of 

the Council’s closing, and really very central to this whole issue around 

what we call the revised proposal is that it came out of the hearing of 

24 May, and it was very much a matter than arose at the last minute as 

far as the Council is concerned.  It came out of discussions with Air 20 

New Zealand, and they were very helpful, and Dr Chiles then proposed 

his revised proposal, which has now got, I say broad acceptance by at 

least the Council, Air New Zealand and CIAL.   

 

  [12.50 pm] 25 

 

 The residents do not agree with it and my friend made submissions 

about a sort of form of issue with stop (ph 0.19) or I would not go that 

far, but in my submission that is really not applicable to this type of 

hearing.  But there is a broad measure agreement about that proposal 30 

but I just wanted to emphasise something to the Panel about the way 

that things moved, and can I have the mediation report available 

please? 

 

 This is a mediation which was held on 15 June. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, this was the one that the parties requested. 

 

MR LAING:   There seems to be a very repeated assertion from the counsel for 

the Airport company that somehow the 60 dBA noise mitigation came 40 

out of nowhere at the very last minute.  But if you look at page five of 

this report, issue number nine, very clearly it was on that table at that 

stage.  CCC also is considered CIAL should meet 75 percent of the 

costs of mechanical renovation. 

 45 
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 But over the page again, under outcome on page six, the reference there 

to contributions within the 60 dBA engine testing contour and then, so 

it was right on the table at that stage.  Now the way that things have 

eventuated, neither party has had the opportunity of providing further 

evidence to the panel.  So when it comes to issues around the evidential 5 

basis of the 60 dBA noise mitigation, the Council has had to deal with 

the evidence such as it was, and so have the other parties, and I will 

come back to that shortly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Although that submission does not say that the Panel 10 

made an order that there would be no evidence.  I do not think we made 

a direction. 

 

MR LAING:   No. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is a question of whether the parties asked for it. 

 

MR LAING:   I will come to that issue because it is very relevant to the phone 

conference we had last Friday, and there is still now a lack of any GIS 

information on the 60 contour and I will come back to that. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR LAING:   So that is the Council’s revised approach.  There are difference 

in policies and I will come to them when I refer to the specific closing.  25 

 

 The next thing is the evidence for the acoustic treatment within the 60 

contour.  Now I have set that out within our written closing.  But there 

are a number of issues in there that I just would like to emphasise.  

Firstly there is one of scope and in my submission there is scope.  My 30 

friends did not really advance that matter today and in my submission it 

is very clear there is scope.  You do have to take a fairly large and 

liberal interpretation of all submissions.  To take a sort of chancery 

drafting view is totally inappropriate, in my submission there was 

scope. 35 

 

 So if there is scope the next question, is there evidence on which the 

Panel could conclude that there are grounds for noise attenuation 

mitigation within the 60 contour?  In my submission there is, that is set 

out in my closing. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   My friend has just made some sweetening statements around no 

evidence but I will come to that a bit later on, so in my submission 45 

there is evidence.  It is principally Dr Chiles but there is evidence on 
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which you could reach that conclusion.  It is entirely a matter for the 

Panel as to what inference they want to draw but my submission is the 

evidence.  

 

 So if there is evidence then we turn to what I would refer in my closing 5 

to other factors. Obviously, cost, proportionality, the reasonableness 

comes into those things.  Now the Council, in my closing, refers very 

specifically to what the evidence is and unfortunately it has been 

involved, looking at the second version of revised contours, drawing 

inference from that to the number of houses affected.  So in my 10 

submission there is evidence as to cost, upon which you can draw some 

appropriate conclusions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 15 

MR LAING:   There are two elements to cost.  One is the number of houses 

affected, and secondly how much is the cost of mitigation per house.   

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 20 

 On the first point, the Council has had to rely on the second version of 

the contours provided to the Panel, and I do not think anybody is 

suggesting that is not now evidenced before the Panel.  What the 

Council asked for though was the 60 dBA engine noise testing contour 

so it could then take that information, put an aerial GIS over it and 25 

reach some finite conclusion for the Panel. The Council has been 

totally frustrated in this and yesterday the Panel was sent on a without 

prejudice basis a hard copy. 

 

 Now I am very clear in my mind that I have always asked for a GIS 30 

version and if it needed a legal application I would have then made it to 

have the evidence put before the Panel. There cannot be any reasonable 

basis for the Airport company in not co-operating in putting the best 

evidence before this Panel and we are still lacking that.  In my 

submission the matter could be easily dealt with by a direction that the 35 

parties provide a memorandum to the Panel dealing with number of 

houses within the 65 engine noise contour and the number within the 

60 and that would put that beyond doubt.  In my view it is a very 

simple matter, it should not be a cat and mouse games.   

 40 

 Of course that is all predicated on the fact that the Panel were minded 

to require noise treatment within that contour, but that is a different 

matter.  The evidential basis should be clear and be very simple to 

provide at this stage. 

 45 
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 So that deals with that and in my general submission there is ample 

evidence on which the Panel can embark on looking at engine noise 

attenuation within the 60 contour. 

 

 Coming to another matter, in my 1F I refer to appendix A of the 5 

Council’s closing.  You will see from the memorandum yesterday that 

some leave was sought to withdraw that and the reason for that is that 

some of that information is not immediately apparent from district plan 

rules.   

 10 

 But in my submission the Panel, if it finds it helpful, can refer to rules 

on any district plan in the country in terms of mitigation, acoustic 

treatment matters.  And my submission is really based on two things 

there.  One is section 76.2 of the RMA which is attached to my notes.  

Every rule shall have the force to effect a regulation under the Act.  15 

And then you go to section 16 of the Legislation Act 2012 and for some 

horrible reason mine does refer (INDISTINCT 3.06), “All courts and 

persons act judicially must take (INDISTINCT 3.10) regulations”.   

 

 So if the Panel does find that helpful and I make no comment on that, it 20 

certainly can refer to that information. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   The next point is the revised addendum to the section 32 report 25 

which is appendix four, and the Panel will note that a further version of 

that was submitted yesterday with some additional references to 

evidence.  In my submission the Council is in a catch 22 situation over 

this.  If it had not provided a revised section 32 report to the Panel it 

would be criticised for that.  It has done so and it has done so to the 30 

best of its ability, it is in evidence but it is material that the Panel can 

have regard to but again I accept that the section 32AA analysis is the 

prime tool.  

 

 Just coming very briefly to the closings for the Airport company and 35 

Air New Zealand, I will start with Air New Zealand, there is only really 

a few points there.  In terms of the policy drafting matters I think the 

dialogue this morning really just dealt with this problem about using 

the words unreasonable impacts.  In my mind it is circular, the Council 

really basically made the same point in its appendix 2 closing so I do 40 

not think we need to take that any further. 

 

 In terms of the aspirational policy, I can immediately say that the 

Council is not wedded to its particular wording, but it does consider 

that there is room for some policy that makes it very clear that there has 45 
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to be at least ongoing consideration or something of that nature to 

ensure that all techniques are used to reduce noise. 

 

  [1.00 pm] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing, just about that, we have section 16 of course. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are we on the same page on that, but that is a duty that 10 

continues, it is ongoing for both the Airport and Air New Zealand and 

other occupiers at that site.  Is an answer to your issue an advisory note 

making it clear to the reader of the plan that the standards and other 

provisions do not take away from that section 16 obligation? 

 15 

MR LAING:  If your Honour pleases, that is a partial answer, in my 

submission. The problem about section 16 is that somebody has to 

enforce it.  So either the Council or residents or something, so it sits 

outside the plan.   

 20 

 The only practical way that section 16 would come into play if there 

was no agreement between the parties, would be an application to the 

Environment Court for an enforcement order.  And that is a very 

potentially difficult process, a costly process and one that I do not 

know if residents would be likely to embark on lightly.  They might do 25 

if they became very frustrated, but it sits outside the plan, it is there but 

its enforcement is, how do you enforce it?  It really would have to end 

up in almost a re-visitation of this whole evidential process we have 

had through this hearing. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the aspirational policy would add what though? 

 

MR LAING:   It is there to point in aid of what the obligations are of the noise 

emitter, if there was an application for instance, a resource consent 

application to extend the contours or change those plan provisions it 35 

would be (INDISTINCT 2.13) at that stage. So at the resource 

consenting stage, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In terms of not being wedded to the wording though, 

Ms Appleyard’s concern was about in fact resource consent processes 40 

and the danger of a policy that was wrongly expressed in terms of 

certainty of outcomes. I think you said the Council was not wedded to a 

particular wording as put forward. 

 

MR LAING:   No. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   What are the limits to what the Council would say is we 

should at least do that. 

 

MR LAING:   If I come to my friend Mr Gardner-Hopkins’ wording, the word 

consider seems to me to be far too loose and vague.  Consider, what 5 

does that actually mean?  There needs to be something more definitive 

than consider.  The Council carefully thought about its wording, it is 

not resigning from that but it accepts that it is an aspirational policy but 

consider opportunities, you can consider opportunities and simply 

reject them, you do not have to do anything really positive at all out of 10 

that.   

 

 So it would have to be something that gave some direction to looking at 

the issue around improvements in technology and management 

techniques.  I did like those words in there because that is really what 15 

the focus is on – improvements in technology, management techniques, 

other practical measures that are available to mitigate or reduce noise. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 20 

MR LAING:   The issue around reverse sensitivity, which is on the Air New 

Zealand submission’s synopsis at the top of page two, I think I can 

leave that.  That is really a matter that has been canvassed this morning.   

 

 Also too, I do not think there is anything else I need to raise on page 25 

two of that synopsis; the Council’s position has been quite clear from 

its own closing.  There is a note there seven, though, just about that 

section 32 addendum and I have already covered that as well.   

 

 So if I can go over to my friend Ms Appleyard’s summary, and I have 30 

covered quite a few of those matters already. Just dealing with 

paragraph three, the statement there, “as the evidence of Mr Boswell 

showed, most of the properties which were a concern to Dr Chiles are 

now in CIAL ownership.  In my submission that is not correct; it is 

quite clear that there are other properties within the 60 contour, it is just 35 

a question of how many they are and I have addressed the Panel on that 

point today.   

 

  [1.05 pm] 

 40 

 It is around 20 but it would be very useful for the Panel to have some 

accurate information before you.  So I just do not accept that 

proposition. 

 

 Going over to page two at paragraph nine, there is a statement there 45 

around the issue about mitigation and I accept that mitigation can be a 
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combined thing, it is not simply capital expenditure, it is constrained 

contours, it is a package.  But this is where we get into difficulty 

because then it said, “reduce the effects of engine testing as evidenced 

by constrained contours and mitigation effects which also have cost”.  

Of course we do not have specific evidence about the revised proposal 5 

and what cost that would impose on Air New Zealand.  That is simply 

not in there.  That is not a criticism, that is simply the way that the 

hearing has developed. 

 

 If I could go over to page three, the top there, policy matters, and I was 10 

interested in my friend’s submissions on that.  I do not think I can take 

that matter very much further today but if helpful the Council would be 

prepared to file a memorandum about that particular policy.  I cannot 

really comment on that particular matter any further at the moment.   

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If there is an inconsistency there is an issue that we need 

to grapple with. 

 

MR LAING:  It is an issue, yes and if the Council can be of assistance in 

resolving that, fine. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR LAING:   I have really dealt with, in my closing in some detail about the 

airport noise policy so I am not going to deal with that anymore.  I have 25 

spoken about the aspirational policy which is at the bottom of page 

three.  I do dispute though, at 28 on page four, that it is in fact a sinking 

lid policy.  It is not intended to be that at all.  It is intended to be as I 

say an aspirational policy requiring attention to new technology.  Any 

change that can be made to deal with practical ways of reducing noise. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   At 34 on page four, in the last sentence there is reference to the 

fact that the Airport Company disputes the difference between the 35 

effects of engine noise testing and ordinary operational noise.  I deal 

with that at my 3.6.3 of the written closing.  My friend later on says 

there is simply no evidence on those topics, well that is not the case.  

3.6.3 I footnote there Dr Chiles’ evidence on that point.  That covers 

that one off. 40 

 

 I then come to the issue really, come back to the acoustic treatment at 

60 or 65.  My friend at 39 refers to Ms Dixon’s evidence.  In my 

submission things have moved on a lot since then and in fact as at times 

a mediation report, the one on the 15th of June, very clearly the 60 dBA 45 

mitigation proposal was on the table at that stage.   
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 43 on page five, my friend refers to paragraph 3.5.6 of the closing and 

makes a submission (INDISTINCT 4.32) which is not in evidence.  

Well the constrained documents are in evidence, you need to squint to 

determine the number of houses, which comes back to my point that 5 

this is an issue that could be readily resolved by the parties co-

operating and putting the proper information before the Panel.   

 

 At 45 I already made the submission that there is evidence for the 

difference between the two types of noise effect.  I can cover that off in 10 

any detail now. 

 

  [1.10 pm] 

 

 Finally, the issue around representation.  Now on the Council’s version 15 

of the representation membership there are already community board 

members proposed for that committee.  I have to accept again there 

could be some legitimate debate about what is the best form of 

community representation, but the problem that the Council has at this 

point is that there is not simply any evidence before the Panel as to are 20 

there appropriate community groups, apart from the referenced 

Avonhead Community Group, there is simply no evidence for the Panel 

at the moment as to what community groups would be, whether 

incorporated or unincorporated, that could form part of that committee. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So how do we solve that problem, that is inherent is it not, 

in a model that involves reference to a group that is not a statutory 

group?  In other words, community groups come and go, incorporated 

society members may or may not be here.  It does not – stepping back 

from this a bit, I take it the Council would totally endorse the 30 

proposition that this needs to be, if it is to be provided for, it needs to 

be an assured mechanism for engagement with the community, that has 

got some stability and endurance associated with it. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does not just come and go, or does not get into a 

situation of protracted internal dispute. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, your Honour.  The Council’s proposal would not preclude 40 

the direct community appointees being members of such bodies. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   But at the moment we just do not have any sort of - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So in terms of the Council’s one, I might just have a quick 

look at it. 

 

MR LAING:   Have a look at that, it might be, we are running out of time. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   It is a very long – the Council’s version is at 37 of appendix 

two. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I see.  And the answer to the question I think you 

asked, I asked, your answer is that in that bullet point that is about five 

down, it is the Council that makes those appointments. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  The Council would not want to be in a situation where it 15 

was having to go out looking for a group that either may not exist at all, 

or may not be entirely appropriate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But the Council continues to take an active role in putting 

people forward that might have that voice. 20 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That may not be community members, board members, 

but nevertheless have a relevant ability to contribute. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, to be fair to Mr Gardner-Hopkins, he was suggesting it be 

an incorporated body but that does not really resolve the issue if you 

cannot find one that is going to fit that role.  So that is the reason why 

the Council does not - - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I understand. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  So I think that is all apart from I did see something in the 

Residents submissions I could support and that is their comments about 35 

the mapping which is the last bit of page five there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   So I just agree that that is an outstanding issue that needs to be 40 

resolved and that is really all.  So I am happy to answer any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  No, thank you very much.  Now just one entry into 

Ms Dawson’s questions and the proposition I put to both Ms Appleyard 

and Mr Gardner-Hopkins around making sure we have got proper 45 

linkages into land use categories that, the activity is regulated for the 
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purposes of engine testing.  For instance the controls that are proposed 

in the appendices. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:  There does seem to be, I think there is some 

acknowledgement of a need to fix some of the wiring in those areas 

about activities, about standards.  Is there any comment you want to 

make on that? 

 10 

  [1.15 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   It was not basically the Council’s drafting it is, if we tried to 

take it, but having said that though, it is supporting those principles and 

if we can arrive at some better drafting, whether it is through just 15 

simply a drafting session, heaven forbid, or whatever it is, we are very 

happy to co-operate any way on that, because obviously we want to 

make sure that it is very clear and I do think probably in retrospect it is 

a bit like designing a camel really.  It has had a long gestation period 

and if we can help in any way with trying to improve that, yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The image is not a good one. 

 

MR LAING:   So I am not certain what the Panel would have in mind about 

how that could be achieved. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, all right. 

 

MR LAING:   But are very willing to if need be have a drafting session, it 

would have to be something reasonably short and practical anyway. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well that really was my question.  Ms Dixon is behind you 

but I presume Ms Dixon was in the room when I asked my questions of 35 

Mr Gardner-Hopkins and Ms Appleyard in terms of the concerns that I 

had about the nature of the drafting. And I just wanted your 

confirmation that although the Council may not have been the initial 

drafter of these rules, the Council is proposing a set of rules that are in 

this particular format to us and it would be good if the Council was 40 

involved in any tightening up of the way these are drafted. 

 

MR LAING:   Certainly, Commissioner, and the Council will assist in any way 

practical, are happy to facilitate that. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, that was all I wanted to ask. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will have to give that some thought.  Mr Gardner-10 

Hopkins – thank you, Mr Laing, I will come back to you very briefly 

and I will just do the round.  I mean it does seem that there are, and I 

will ask Ms Appleyard and Mr Venema this as well, Ms Limmer, the 

Panel has in the past taken an approach in this circumstance of putting 

out drafting that might to churn things up on a qualified basis that it 15 

does not represent the Panel’s view necessarily until we have issued 

our decision. Does Air New Zealand have any issue with that 

approach? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   No, sir, they would willingly participate.  I do 20 

not think, well I think Air New Zealand’s position is there is sufficient 

information before the Panel upon which it could make a decision but if 

it would be assisted by some additional thought given to drafting they 

would be prepared to participate. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, we would welcome that.  I had a brief discussion 

with Mr Bonis who is going to be holding the pen obviously from 

CIAL’s point of view, and he had not taken the same lead from the 30 

questions around the noise management plan and the community 

liaison group and looking like consent conditions rather than plan 

conditions that I have.  So he is not very clear on what is expected.   

 

 So if we could have some indication from the Panel as to what the 35 

concerns are, I think I know what they are but he had taken a different 

interpretation of what the concerns that were being expressed, so if we 

could have some clarification in order for us to be able to properly help 

the Panel, that would be welcomed. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well we will give some thought to that and maybe in 

some areas we have to express – Ms Dawson is one of the very 

hardworking Panel members that - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I have taken it to be concerns around the way the 45 

provisions were drafted as they looked like consent conditions. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I think, and I may be putting words in his mouth, he 

though there was a concern about that approach more generally and 5 

about them needing to end up in rules as standard rather than, so he and 

I had taken a different interpretation out of what you were expressing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Maybe if I could just say, I mean the comment about them 

being more like resource consent conditions was not a pointed 10 

comment, it was a general comment. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think though that those provisions do no read like standards 15 

that an activity needs to meet in order to be a permitted activity. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that is my main comment. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   But there was no suggestion that they be lifted into some 

sort of rules with everything listed in the body of the rules as - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well they can be wherever they are but they need to be linked 25 

to a permitted - - -  

 

  [1.20 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - to a permitted activity and be an activity specific 

standard I would have thought in the form - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - which they are not at the moment. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, no I - - - 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   And then they need to be written as though they are a 

standard. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, yes. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   I mean they are too long to be put in a table, but there are 

other ways around that. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Mm. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   But there is, yes, my feeling is that some really good 

attention to drafting with that in mind would go a long way. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will have to give some thought to the best process.  

Clearly our fingers are being worn out by working on drafting issues on 10 

a number of fronts for a number of months, and whether or not we give 

some indication of that in a minute or ask the parties to come back, we 

will have to think about. 

 

 Ms Appleyard, just while you are on your feet, and the Panel again will 15 

have to give this some consideration, Mr Laing indicated that we may 

want to consider a direction for some further information of a mapping 

nature, and I take it if we do make a direction of that kind the Airport 

has the technical ability to assist with that relatively quickly? 

 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I can assist on that.  So yesterday we provided the 60 

contour map that which has been provided to the Panel.  The GIS 

version of it has arrived in my inbox while we have been here. So that 

will be forwarded to Mr Laing today. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, thank you very much.   

 

M LAING:  Just on that point your Honour. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes Mr Laing. 

 

MR LAING:   I think there is some direction still needed because if that is the 

way that goes - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I understand. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - because receipt and coming before the Panel are different 

things. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I totally understand.  I just wanted to make sure that 

we would not strike some problem of technical delay or somebody 

overseas for two months sort of problem.  It does not sound like we 

will, so those technical issues can be managed if we direct it.   

 45 
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 Mr Venema, this conversation might be somewhat confusing, but it is 

effectively, as I indicated earlier, part of our processes to, well 

effectively the goal of our process at the end of the day is produce a 

plan with robust provisions in it.  And so the conversation I have had 

with other counsel relates to how the Panel might engage on that by 5 

way of a further minute, seeking further assistance, and so that is just to 

let you know.   

 

 Do you have any comment on that?  You do not need to go back over 

your earlier comments, but just, you will receive a new minute that is 10 

issued as the person representing the submitter group, I take it that is 

appropriate in Mr Lawry’s absence, or should it go to Mr Lawry as 

well? 

 

MR VENEMA:   I think to Mr Lawry as well at this point.  15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR VENEMA:   I do have a couple of comments as I have been listening to 

you. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No.  Well, when I say no I mean no, not an opportunity to 

go back over what other people have said in their submissions, but do 

you have any comments on the matter I have just put to other counsel 

on the question of the minute that might be issued? 25 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And what is that? 

 30 

MR VENEMA:   Specifically that the submitter group in their proposed plan, 

there are some alignments in the areas of the Noise Management Plan, 

particularly in the aspects of mitigation and reduction - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it sounds like you might be getting into the merits 35 

again. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, yes, but there is some alignment there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In terms of process, you do not have any issue with the 40 

process by which the Panel might issue a minute seeking further 

guidance, depending what the Panel determines?  Answer that? 

 

MR VENEMA:   No, I do not believe so, I was just pointing out we have some 

alignment - - -  45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much.  Ms Limmer? 

 

Ms LIMMER:   Sir, no issue I expect (INDISTINCT 3.37) involvement 

(INDISTINCT 3.38) on that exercise. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  All right, thank you very much.  Well, thank 

you very much everyone for your assistance, I think it has been a 

helpful process, even though it is quite hard work I have to say, and 

there has been quite a chronology of process for this particular topic, 

including as I may remind all counsel, the mediation process, which 10 

was instigated after our last hearing at the specific joint request of 

parties.   

 

 And I have to say that gave the Panel perhaps false cause for 

confidence, that there would be a lot more consensus achieved than 15 

what has been achieved, and a lot less work on the Panel’s part as a 

consequence. 

 

 Given that is not where we are at we will just have to consider the next 

step, I will at this stage adjourn and there will be further 20 

communication by a minute as to the processes from here.  But thank 

you for your contributions today. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 1.24 PM ACCORDINGLY 


